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" After 'the war to end war' they seem
to have been pretty successful in Paris
at making a 'Peace to end Peace.'"

Archibald Wavell (later Field Marshal Earl
Wavell), an officer who served under Allenby
in the Palestine campaign, commenting on
the treaties bringing the First World War

to an end
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INTRODUCTION

The Middle East, as we know it from today's headlines, emerged
from decisions made by the Allies during and after the First World
War. In the pages that follow | set out to tell in one volume the
wide-ranging story of how and why—and out of what hopes and
fears, loves and hatreds, mistakes and misunderstandings—these
decisions were made.

Russian and French official accounts of what they were doing in
the Middle East at that time were, not unnaturally, works of propa-
ganda; British official accounts—and even the later memoirs of the
officials concerned—were untruthful too. British officials who played
a major role in the making of these decisions provided a version of
events that was, at best, edited and, at worst, fictitious. They sought
to hide their meddling in Moslem religious affairs (pages 96—105)
and to pretend that they had entered the Middle East as patrons of
Arab independence—a cause in which they did not in fact believe.
Moreover, the Arab Revolt that formed the centerpiece of their narra-
tive occurred not so much in reality as in the wonderful imagination
of T. E. Lawrence, a teller of fantastic tales whom the American
showman Lowell Thomas transformed into "Lawrence of Arabia."

The truth has come out over the course of decades in bits and
pieces, and now, toward the end, in one great heap, with the opening
of archives of hitherto secret official documents and private papers.
It seemed to me—in 1979, when | started my research—that we had
arrived at a point where at last it would be possible to tell the real
story of what happened; hence this book.

During the past decade | have worked in the archives, studied the
literature, and put together the findings of modern scholarship to
show the picture that is formed when the pieces of the puzzle are
assembled. The authors whose works | cite in the Notes at the end of
the book made most of the new discoveries, though | have made
some too: what the Young Turk leaders may have done in order to
persuade the Germans to ally with them on 1 August 1914 (pages
60—6), for example, and why the Arab negotiator al-Farugi may
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16 INTRODUCTION

have drawn a line through inland Syria as the frontier of Arab
national independence (page 178).

Then, too, | may be the first to disentangle, or at any rate to draw
attention to, the many misunderstandings which in 1916 set off a
hidden tug-of-war within the British bureaucracy between Sir Mark
Sykes, London's desk man in charge of the Middle East, and his
friend Gilbert Clayton, the head of intelligence in Cairo (page
193). | found that neither Sykes nor Clayton ever realized that
Sykes, in the 1916 negotiations with France, misunderstood what
Clayton had asked him to do. Sykes did the exact opposite, believing
in all innocence that he was carrying out Clayton's wishes, while
Clayton felt sure that Sykes had knowingly let him down. Since
Clayton never mentioned the matter to him, Sykes remained unaware
that differences had arisen between him and his colleague. So in the
months and years that followed, Sykes mistakenly assumed that he
and Clayton were still at one, when in fact within the bureaucracy
Clayton had become an adversary of his policy—and perhaps the
most dangerous one.

Getting the bureaucratic politics right—and | hope that is what |
have done—has been one of my chief endeavors. But | have tried to
do more than clarify specific processes and episodes. The book is
meant to give a panoramic view of what was happening to the Middle
East as a whole, and to show that its reshaping was a function of
Great Power politics at a unique time: the exact moment when the
waves of western European imperial expansionism flowed forward to
hit their high-water mark, and then felt the first powerful tugs of
the tide that was going to pull them back.

The Middle East, as | conceive it, means not only Egypt, Israel,
Iran, Turkey, and the Arab states of Asia, but also Soviet Central
Asia and Afghanistan: the entire arena in which Britain, from the
Napoleonic Wars onward, fought to shield the road to India from
the onslaughts first of France and then of Russia in what came to be
known as "the Great Game."

Other studies of the First World War and its aftermath in the
region have tended to deal with a single country or area. Even those
dealing with European policy in the Arab or Turkish East as a whole
have focused solely, for example, on the role of Britain, or of Britain
and France. But | place the creation of the modern Middle East in a
wider framework: | see what happened as the culmination of the
nineteenth-century Great Game, and therefore show Russia, too,
playing a leading role in the story. It was in whole or in part because
of Russia that Kitchener initiated a British alliance with the Arab
Moslem world (pages 97—8); that Britain and France, though they
would have preferred to preserve the Turkish Empire in the region,
decided instead to occupy and partition the Middle East (pages
137—42); that the Foreign Office publicly proclaimed British support
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for the establishment of a Jewish National Home in Palestine (pages
184—93); and that, after the war, a number of British officials felt
that Britain was obliged to hold the line in the Middle East against
crusading Bolshevism (pages 465—8). Yet, so far as | know, this is
the first book to tell the story as that of the Middle East in the widest
sense: the Great Game sense, in which Russia plays a central role.

As you will see when you read the book, Middle Eastern person-
alities, circumstances, and political cultures do not figure a great deal
in the narrative that follows, except when | suggest the outlines and
dimensions of what European politicians were ignoring when they
made their decisions. This is a book about the decision-making
process, and in the 1914—22 period, Europeans and Americans were
the only ones seated around the table when the decisions were made.

It was an era in which Middle Eastern countries and frontiers were
fabricated in Europe. Irag and what we now call Jordan, for example,
were British inventions, lines drawn on an empty map by British
politicians after the First World War; while the boundaries of Saudi
Arabia, Kuwait, and Iraq were established by a British civil servant
in 1922, and the frontiers between Moslems and Christians were
drawn by France in Syria-Lebanon and by Russia on the borders of
Armenia and Soviet Azerbaijan.

The European powers at that time believed they could change
Moslem Asia in the very fundamentals of its political existence, and
in their attempt to do so introduced an artificial state system into the
Middle East that has made it into a region of countries that have not
become nations even today. The basis of political life in the Middle
East—religion—was called into question by the Russians, who pro-
posed communism, and by the British, who proposed nationalism or
dynastic loyalty, in its place. Khomeini's Iran in the Shi'ite world
and the Moslem Brotherhood in Egypt, Syria, and elsewhere in the
Sunni world keep that issue alive. The French government, which in
the Middle East did allow religion to be the basis of politics—even of
its own—championed one sect against the others; and that, too, is an
issue kept alive, notably in the communal strife that has ravaged
Lebanon in the 1970s and 1980s.

The year 1922 seems to me to have been the point of no return in
setting the various clans of the Middle East on their collision courses,
so that the especial interest and excitement of the years with which
this book is concerned, 1914 through 1922, is that they were the
creative, formative years, in which everything seemed (and may
indeed have been) possible. It was a time when Europeans, not
implausibly, believed Arab and Jewish nationalism to be natural
allies; when the French, not the Arabs, were the dangerous enemies
of the Zionist movement; and when oil was not an important factor
in the politics of the Middle East.

By 1922, however, the choices had narrowed and the courses had
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been set; the Middle East had started along a road that was to lead to
the endless wars (between Israel and her neighbors, among others,
and between rival militias in Lebanon) and to the always-escalating
acts of terrorism (hijacking, assassination, and random massacre)
that have been a characteristic feature of international life in the
1970s and 1980s. These are a part of the legacy of the history
recounted in the pages that follow.

Two stories are told in the book and then merge into one. The
first begins with Lord Kitchener's decision at the outset of the First
World War to partition the Middle East after the war between
Britain, France, and Russia, and with his appointment of Sir Mark
Sykes to work out the details. The book then follows Sykes during
the wartime years, as he worked out Britain's blueprint for the
Middle East's future. It goes on to show that, in large part, the
program Sykes had formulated was realized after the war, and was
embodied in documents formally adopted (for the most part) in
1922.

This was the story that | originally set out to write. It was meant
to show that if you put together a number of the documents and
decisions of 1922—the Allenby Declaration establishing nominal in-
dependence for Egypt, the Palestine Mandate and the Churchill
White Paper for Palestine (from which Israel and Jordan spring), the
British treaty establishing the status of Iraq, the French Mandate for
Syria and Lebanon, Britain's placing new monarchs on the thrones
of Egypt and Iraq and sponsoring a new princely ruler for (what was
to become) Jordan, the Russian proclamation of a Soviet Union in
which Russia would re-establish her rule in Moslem Central Asia—
you would see that when taken together they amounted to an overall
settlement of the Middle Eastern Question. Moreover, this settlement
of 1922 (as | call it, because most of its elements cluster in and
around that year) flowed from the wartime negotiations which Sir
Mark Sykes had conducted with France and Russia to agree upon a
partition of the postwar Middle East between them. The French
received a bit less than had been agreed, and the Russians were only
allowed to keep what they had already taken before the war, but
the principle of allowing them to share with Britain in the partition
and rule of Moslem Asia was respected. Within the British sphere,
all went according to the Sykes plan: Britain ruled for the most
part indirectly, as protector of nominally independent Arab mon-
archies, and proclaimed herself the sponsor of both Arab and Jewish
nationalism.

In addition to establishing that there had been a settlement of 1922
in the Middle East, | show that our quarrel with that settlement (to
the extent that with hindsight we would have designed the new
Middle East differently) is not what we sometimes believe it to be. It
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is not even that the British government at that time failed to devise a
settlement that would satisfy the needs and desires of the peoples of
the Middle East; it isthat they were trying to do something altogether
different. For Lord Kitchener and his delegated agent Mark Sykes
the Middle Eastern Question was what it had been for more than a
century: where would the French frontier in the Middle East be
drawn and, more important, where would the Russian frontier in the
Middle East be drawn?

That, as | say, isthe story which | set out to tell. But in the telling
of it, another emerged: the story of how, between 1914 and 1922,
Britain changed, and British officials and politicians changed their
minds, so that by 1922—when they formally committed themselves
to their program for remaking the Middle East—they no longer
believed in it. In the course of the narrative we see the British
government of 1914, 1915, and 1916, which welcomed a Russian and
a French presence in the postwar Middle East, turn into a postwar
government that regarded Russia in the Middle East as a danger and
France in the region as a disaster. We see the pro-Zionists of 1917
turn into the anti-Zionists of 1921 and 1922; and the enthusiasts for
Feisal's Arab Movement turn against Feisal as untrustworthy and
against his brother Abdullah as hopelessly ineffectual. Above all, we
see Britain embarking on a vast new imperial enterprise in the
Middle East—one that would take generations to achieve, if its object
were to remake the Middle East as India had been remade—at the
very time that the British public was turning to a policy of scaling
down overseas commitments and was deciding it wanted no more
imperial adventures.

It may well be that the crisis of political civilization that the
Middle East endures today stems not merely from Britain's destruc-
tion of the old order in the region in 1918, and her decisions in 1922
about how it should be replaced, but also from the lack of conviction
she brought in subsequent years to the program of imposing the
settlement of 1922 to which she was pledged.

The book | intended to write was only about how Europe went
about changing the Middle East; the book that emerged was also
about how Europe changed at the same time, and about how the two
movements interacted.

Lloyd George, Woodrow Wilson, Kitchener of Khartoum,
Lawrence of Arabia, Lenin, Stalin, and Mussolini—men who helped
shape the twentieth century—are among those who played leading
roles in the drama that unfolds in A Peace to End All Peace, striving
to remake the world in the light of their own vision. Winston
Churchill, above all, presides over the pages of this book: a domi-
nating figure whose genius animated events and whose larger-than-
life personality colored and enlivened them.
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For Churchill, as for Lloyd George, Wilson, Lenin, Stalin, and
the others—and for such men as Jan Christian Smuts, Leo Amery,
and Lord Milner—the Middle East was an essential component or a
testing area of their worldview. Their vision of the future of the
Middle East was central to their idea of the sort of twentieth century
they passionately believed would or should emerge as a phoenix from
the ashes of the First World War. In that sense, the history recounted
in the pages that follow is the story of how the twentieth century was
created, as well as the modern Middle East.
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1

THE LAST DAYS OF OLD EUROPE

In the late spring of 1912, the graceful yacht Enchantress put out to
sea from rainy Genoa for a Mediterranean pleasure cruise—-a carefree
cruise without itinerary or time-schedule. The skies brightened as
she steamed south. Soon she was bathed in sunshine.

Enchantress belonged to the British Admiralty. The accommo-
dation aboard was as grand as that on the King's own yacht. The
crew numbered nearly a hundred and served a dozen or so guests,
who had come from Britain via Paris, where they had stayed at the
Ritz. Among them were the British Prime Minister, Herbert Asquith;
his brilliant 25-year-old daughter Violet; the civilian head of the
Admiralty, Winston Churchill; and Churchill's small party of family
members and close colleagues. In the final enchanted years before
the First World War brought their world to an end, they were as
privileged a group as any the world has known.

Violet Asquith kept a diary of her journey. In Pompeii she and her
friends wandered "down the long lovely silent streets" that once had
pulsated with the life of Imperial Rome; now, she noted, those once
lively streets were overgrown with grass and vegetation.’ In Sicily
her party climbed to the ruins of an ancient Greek fortress and,
amidst wild lavender and herbs, had a picnic lunch, sitting on blocks
of stone from the fallen walls. Later they went higher still to watch
the sunset over the sea from what remained of the old Greek theater
on the heights. There they lay "among wild thyme and humming
bees and watched the sea changing from blue to flame and then to
cool jade green as the sun dropped into it and the stars came out."*

Rotations and revolutions—the heavenly movements that cause
day to become night and spring/summer to become autumn/winter—
were reflected in her observations of the landscape and its lighting;
but a sense of the mortality of civilizations and of political powers
and dominations did not overshadow Violet's cheerful vision of her
youthful voyage to the lands of antiquity. Her father presided over
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an empire roughly twice as large as the Roman Empire at its zenith;
she may well have thought that her father's empire would last twice
as long too.

The Prime Minister, an enthusiastic sightseer, was inseparable
from his Baedeker guidebook. An ardent classicist, he read and
wrote with ease and pleasure in classical Greek and Latin. Winston
Churchill, no scholar of ancient languages or literature, was as jealous
as a child. "Those Greeks and Romans," he protested, "they are so
overrated. They only said everything first. I've said just as good
things myself. But they got in before me."*®

Violet noted that, "It was in vain that my father pointed out that
the world had been going on for quite a long time before the Greeks
and Romans appeared upon the scene."* The Prime Minister was an
intellectual, aware that the trend among historians of the ancient
world was away from an exclusive concern with the European cul-
tures of the Greeks and Romans. The American professor James
Henry Breasted had won wide acceptance for the thesis that modern
civilization—that is, European civilization—had its beginnings not
in Greece and Rome, but in the Middle East: in Egypt and Judaea,
Babylonia and Assyria, Sumer and Akkad. Civilization—whose roots
stretched thousands of years into the past, into the soil of those
Middle Eastern monarchies that long ago had crumbled into dust—
was seen to have culminated in the global supremacy of the Euro-
pean peoples, their ideals, and their way of life.

In the early years of the twentieth century, when Churchill and his
guests voyaged aboard the Enchantress, it was usual to assume that
the European peoples would continue to play a dominating role in
world affairs for as far ahead in time as the mind's eye could see. It
was also not uncommon to suppose that, having already accomplished
most of what many regarded as the West's historical mission—shaping
the political destinies of the other peoples of the globe—they would
eventually complete it. Conspicuous among the domains still to be
dealt with were those of the Middle East, one of the few regions left
on the planet that had not yet been socially, culturally, and politically
reshaped in the image of Europe.

The Middle East, although it had been of great interest to western
diplomats and politicians during the nineteenth century as an arena
in which Great Game rivalries were played out, was of only marginal
concern to them in the early years of the twentieth century when
those rivalries were apparently resolved. The region had become a
political backwater. It was assumed that the European powers would
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one day take the region in hand, but there was no longer a sense of
urgency about their doing so.

Few Europeans of Churchill's generation knew or cared what went
on in the languid empires of the Ottoman Sultan or the Persian
Shah. An occasional Turkish massacre of Armenians would lead to a
public outcry in the West, but would evoke no more lasting concern
than Russian massacres of Jews. Worldly statesmen who privately
believed there was nothing to be done would go through the public
motions of urging the Sultan to reform; there the matter would end.
Petty intrigues at court, a corrupt officialdom, shifting tribal al-
liances, and a sluggish, apathetic population composed the picture
that Europeans formed of the region's affairs. There was little in
the picture to cause ordinary people living in London, or Paris, or
New York to believe that it affected their lives or interests. In Berlin,
it is true, planners looked to the opening up of railroads and new
markets in the region; but these were commercial ventures. The
passions that now drive troops and terroriststo kill and be killed—and
that compel global attention—had not yet been aroused.

At the time, the political landscape of the Middle East looked
different from that of today. Israel, Jordan, Syria, Iraq, and Saudi
Arabia did not exist then. Most of the Middle East still rested, as it
had for centuries, under the drowsy and negligent sway of the
Ottoman Empire, a relatively tranquil domain in which history, like
everything else, moved slowly.

Today, toward the close of the twentieth century, the politics
of the Middle East present a completely different aspect: they are
explosive. No man played a more crucial role—at times uninten-
tionally—in giving birth to the Middle East we live with today than
did Winston Churchill, who before the First World War was a rising
but widely distrusted young English politician with no particular
interest in Moslem Asia. A curious destiny drove Churchill and the
Middle East to interfere repeatedly in one another's political lives.
This left its marks; there are frontier lines now running across the
face of the Middle East that are scar-lines from those encounters with
him.

* The Baghdad Railway project remains the best-known example of German
economic penetration of the region. The story is a tangled one and often misunder-
stood, but the British originally encouraged and supported the project, little aware
at the outset of the dangers it might pose. Eventually the project became a source of
discord between Britain and Germany which, however, was resolved by an agree-
ment reached between the two countries in 1914.



THE LEGACY OF THE GREAT
GAME IN ASIA

Churchill, Asquith, and such Cabinet colleagues as the Foreign
Secretary, Sir Edward Grey, the Chancellor of the Exchequer, David
Lloyd George, and, later, the War Minister, Lord Kitchener, were
to play a decisive role in creating the modern Middle East; but in
doing so they were unable to escape from a Victorian political legacy
that Asquith's Liberal government thought it had rejected. Asquith
and Grey, having turned their backs on the nineteenth-century rivalry
with France and Russia in the Middle East, believed that they could
walk away from it; but events were to prove them wrong.

The struggle for the Middle East, pitting England against European
rivals, was a result of the imperial expansion ushered in by the
voyages of Columbus, Vasco da Gama, Magellan, and Drake. Having
discovered the sea routes in the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries, the
European powers went on to vie with one another for control of the
rest of the world. England was a relatively late starter in the race, but
eventually surpassed the others.

During the eighteenth century the British Isles, despite their small
size, finally established an empire that encircled the globe. Like the
Spaniards and the Dutch before them, the British boasted that their
monarch now reigned over dominions on which the sun never set. By
1912, when Winston Churchill and Herbert Asquith cruised aboard
the Enchantress, their monarch, George V, ruled a quarter of the
land surface of the planet.

Of none of their conquests were the British more proud than those
in the storied East. Yet there was irony in these triumphs; for in
besting France in Asia and the Pacific, and in crowning that achieve-
ment by winning India, Britain had stretched her line of transport
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and communications so far that it could be cut at rnany points.

Napoleon Bonaparte exposed this vulnerability in 1798, when
he invaded Egypt and marched on Syria—intending, he later main-
tained, from there to follow the path of legend and glory, past
Babylon, to India. Though checked in his own plans, Napoleon
afterwards persuaded the mad Czar Paul to launch the Russian army
on the same path.

Britain's response was to support the native regimes of the Middle
East against European expansion. She did not desire to control the
region, but to keep any other European power from doing so.

Throughout the nineteenth century, successive British govern-
ments therefore pursued a policy of propping up the tottering Islamic
realms in Asia against European interference, subversion, and in-
vasion. In doing so their principal opponent soon became the Russian
Empire. Defeating Russian designs in Asia emerged as the obsessive
goal of generations of British civilian and military officials. Their
attempt to do so was, for them, "the Great Game,"® in which the
stakes ran high. George Curzon, the future Viceroy of India, defined
the stakes clearly: " Turkestan, Afghanistan, Transcaspia, Persia—to
many these names breathe only a sense of utter remoteness . .. To
me, | confess, they are the pieces on a chessboard upon which is
being played out a game for the dominion of the world."* Queen
Victoria put it even more clearly: it was, she said, "a question of
Russian or British supremacy in the world."*®

It appears to have been a British officer named Arthur Conolly who
first called it "the Great Game." He played it gallantly, along the
Himalayan frontier and in the deserts and oases of Central Asia, and
lost in a terrible way: an Uzbek emir cast him for two months into
a well which was filled with vermin and reptiles, and then what re-
mained of him was brought up and beheaded. The phrase "the Great
Game" was found in his papers and quoted by a historian of the First
Afghan War." Rudyard Kipling made it famous in his novel Kim, the
story of an Anglo-Indian boy and his Afghan mentor foiling Russian
intrigues along the highways to India.*

The game had begun even before 1829, when the Duke of
Wellington, then Prime Minister, entered into official correspon-
dence on the subject of how best to protect India against a Russian

* These activities of the rival intelligence services are what some writers mean by
the Great Game; others use the phrase in the broader sense in which it is used in
this book.
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attack through Afghanistan. The best way, it was agreed, was by
keeping Russia out of Afghanistan. British strategy thereafter was to
employ the decaying regimes of Islamic Asia as a gigantic buffer
between British India and its route to Egypt, and the threatening
Russians. This policy was associated especially with the name of
Lord Palmerston, who developed it during his many years as Foreign
Minister (1830-4, 1836-41, and 1846-51) and Prime Minister
(1855-8 and 1859-65).

The battle to support friendly buffer regimes raged with particular
intensity at the western and eastern ends of the Asian continent,
where the control of dominating strategic positions was at stake.
In western Asia the locus of strategic concern was Constantinople
(I'stanbul), the ancient Byzantium, which for centuries had dominated
the crossroads of world politics. Situated above the narrow straits
of the Dardanelles, it commanded both the east/west passage be-
tween Europe and Asia and the north/south passage between the
Mediterranean and the Black Sea. So long as Constantinople was not
in unfriendly hands, the powerful British navy could sail through the
Dardanelles into the Black Sea to dominate the Russian coastline.
But if the Russians were to conquer the straits they could not merely
keep the British fleet from coming in; they could also send their own
fleet out, into the Mediterranean, where its presence could threaten
the British lifeline.

Toward the far side of the Asian continent, the locus of strategic
concern was the stretch of high mountain ranges in and adjoining
Afghanistan, from which invaders could pour down into the plains of
British India. Britain's aim in eastern Asia was to keep Russia from
establishing any sort of presence on those dominating heights.

Sometimes as a cold war, sometimes as a hot one, the struggle
between Britain and Russia raged from the Dardanelles to the
Himalayas for almost a hundred years. Its outcome was something of
a draw.

(Y

There were vital matters at stake in Britain's long struggle against
Russia; and while some of these eventually fell by the wayside,
others remained, alongside newer ones that emerged.

In 1791 Britain's Prime Minister, William Pitt, expressed fear that
the Russian Empire might be able to overthrow the European balance
of power. That fear revived after Russia played a crucial role in the
final defeat of Napoleon in 1814-15, but diminished again after
1856, when Russia was defeated in the Crimean War.

From 1830 onward, Lord Palmerston and his successors feared
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that if Russia destroyed the Ottoman Empire the scramble to pick up
the pieces might lead to a major war between the European powers.
That always remained a concern.

By the middle of the nineteenth century, British trade with the
Ottoman Empire began to assume a major importance, and economic
issues were added to the controversy, pitting free trade Britain against
protectionist Russia. The deep financial involvement of France and
Italy in Ottoman affairs, followed by German economic penetration,
turned the area in which Russia and Britain conducted their struggle
into a minefield of national economic interests.

Oil entered the picture only in the early twentieth century. But it
did not play a major role in the Great Game even then, both because
there were few politicians who foresaw the coming importance of oil,
and because it was not then known that oil existed in the Middle East
in such a great quantity. Most of Britain's oil (more than 80 percent,
before and during the First World War) came from the United
States. At the time, Persia was the only significant Middle Eastern
producer other than Russia, and even Persia's output was insignificant
in terms of world production. In 1913, for example, the United
States produced 140 times more oil than did Persia.’

From the beginning of the Great Game until far into the twentieth
century, the most deeply felt concern of British leaders was for the
safety of the road to the East. When Queen Victoria assumed the title
of Empress of India in 1877 formal recognition was given to the
evolution of Britain into a species of dual monarchy—the British
Empire and the Empire of India. The line between them was thus a
lifeline, but over it, and casting a long shadow, hung the sword of
the czars.

British leaders seemed not to take into account the possibility that,
in expanding southwards and eastwards, the Russians were impelled
by internal historical imperatives of their own which had nothing to
do with India or Britain. The czars and their ministers believed that
it was their country's destiny to conquer the south and the east, just
as the Americans at the time believed it their manifest destiny to
conquer the west. In each case, the dream was to fill out an entire
continent from ocean to ocean. The Russian Imperial Chancellor,
Prince Gorchakov, put it more or less in those terms in 1864 in a
memorandum in which he set forth his goals for his country. He
argued that the need for secure frontiers obliged the Russians to go
on devouring the rotting regimes to their south. He pointed out that
"the United States in America, France in Algiers, Holland in her
colonies—all have been drawn into a course where ambition plays a
smaller role than imperious necessity, and the greatest difficulty is
knowing where to stop."*®

The British feared that Russia did not know where to stop; and, as
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an increasingly democratic society engaged generation after generation
in the conflict with despotic Russia, they eventually developed a
hatred of Russia that went beyond the particular political and econ-
omic differences that divided the two countries. Britons grew to
object to Russians not merely for what they did but for who they
wer e.

At the same time, however, Liberals in and out of Parliament
began to express their abhorrence of the corrupt and despotic Middle
Eastern regimes that their own government supported against the
Russian threat. In doing so, they struck a responsive chord in the
country's electorate. Atrocities committed by the Ottoman Empire
against Christian minorities were thunderingly denounced by the
Liberal leader, William Ewart Gladstone, in the 1880 election cam-
paign in which he overthrew and replaced the Conservative Prime
Minister, Benjamin Disraeli, Earl of Beaconsfield.

Claiming that the Sultan's regime was "a bottomless pit of fraud
and falsehood,"’ Gladstone, in his 1880—5 administration, washed
Britain's hands of the Ottoman involvement, and the British govern-
ment withdrew its protection and influence from Constantinople.
The Turks, unable to stand on their own, turned therefore for
support to another power, Bismarck's Germany; and Germany took
Britain's place at the Sublime Porte.

When the Conservatives returned to office, it was too late to go
back. Robert Cecil, 3rd Marquess of Salisbury (Prime Minister:
1885-6, 1886-92, 1895-1900, 1900-2), aware that the Ottoman
rulers were jeopardizing their own sovereignty through mismanage-
ment, had thought of using such influence as Britain could exert to
guide and, to some extent, reform the regime. Of Gladstone's having
dissipated that influence, he lamented: "They have just thrown it
away into the sea, without getting anything whatever in exchange."*

\%

Germany's entry on the scene, at Constantinople and elsewhere,
marked the beginning of a new age in world politics. The German
Empire, formally created on 18 January 1871, within decades had
replaced Russia as the principal threat to British interests.

In part this was because of Britain's relative industrial decline. In
the middle of the nineteenth century, Britain produced about two-
thirds of the world's coal, about half of its iron, and more than 70
percent of its steel; indeed over 40 percent of the entire world output
of traded manufactured goods was produced within the British Isles
at that time. Half the world's industrial production was then British-
owned, but by 1870 the figure had sunk to 32 percent, and by 1910,
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to 15 percent.” In newer and increasingly more important industries,
such as chemicals and machine-tools, Germany took the lead. Even
Britain's pre-eminent position in world finance—in 1914 she held 41
percent of gross international investment—was a facet of decline;
British investors preferred to place their money in dynamic economies
in the Americas and elsewhere abroad.

Military factors were also involved. The development of railroads
radically altered the strategic balance between land power and sea
power to the detriment of the latter. Sir Halford Mackinder, the
prophet of geopolitics, underlined the realities of a new situation in
which enemy railroad trains would speed troops and munitions di-
rectly to their destination by the straight line which constitutes the
shortest distance between two points, while the British navy would
sail slowly around the circumference of a continent and arrive too
late. The railroad network of the German Empire made the Kaiser's
realm the most advanced military power in the world, and Britain's
precarious naval supremacy began to seem less relevant than it had
been.

Walter Bagehot, editor of the influential London magazine, The
Economist, drew the conclusion that, because of Germany, Russian

expansion no longer needed to be feared: " ... the old idea that
Russia is already so great a power that Europe needs to be afraid of
her ... belongs to the pre-Germanic age."' Russia's disastrous

defeat by Japan (1904—05), followed by revolutionary uprisings in St
Petersburg and throughout the country in 1905, suggested that, in
any event, the Czar's armies were no longer strong enough to remain
a cause for concern.

The Conservative government of Arthur James Balfour (1902—05)
nonetheless continued to pursue the old rivalry as well as the new
one, allying Britain not only with Japan against Russia, but also
with France against Germany. But Sir Edward Grey, Foreign Sec-
retary in the successor Liberal administration of Henry Campbell-
Bannerman (1905—8), pictured the two policies as contradictory.
"Russia was the ally of France," he wrote, "we could not pursue at
one and the same time a policy of agreement with France and a
policy of counteralliances against Russia."**

Grey therefore negotiated a treaty with Russia, executed in 1907,
that reconciled the differences between the two countries in Asia.
Tibet was neutralized; Russia gave up her interest in Afghanistan,
and left control of that country's foreign policy in Britain's hands;
and Persia was divided into a Russian zone, a neutral zone, and a
British zone. The Great Game had seemingly been brought to an
end.

It could have been anticipated that the settlement of 1907 would
arouse fears in Constantinople that Britain would no longer protect
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Turkey against Russia. A Palmerston or a Stratford Canning might
have allayed such fears, but neither Sir Edward Grey nor his am-
bassador in Constantinople took the trouble to do so.

\2

There was an intellectual time lag between London and the outposts
of empire. Grey, Asquith, and their Liberal colleagues saw Britain's
traditional rivals, France and Russia, as British friends and allies in
the post-Victorian age. But British officers, agents, and civil servants
stationed along the great arc that swung from Egypt and the Sudan
to India failed in many cases to adopt the new outlook. Having spent
a lifetime countering Russian and French intrigues in the Middle
East, they continued to regard Russia and France as their country's
enemies. Events in 1914 and the succeeding years were to bring their
Victorian political views back into unexpected prominence.

In one respect officers in the field and ministers in London were in
agreement: both shared the assumption that what remained of the
independent Middle East would eventually fall under European
influence and guidance. Asquith and Grey had no desire for Britain
to expand further into the Middle East, while junior British officers
in Cairo and Khartoum harbored designs on the Arab-speaking prov-
inces to their east. Both groups believed, however, that the Ottoman
Empire in the Middle East would collapse one day and that one or
more of the European powers would have to pick up the pieces. This
assumption—that when the Ottoman Empire disappeared, Europe
would have to take its place—proved to be one of those motors that
drive history.
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THE MIDDLE EAST BEFORE
THE WAR

For decades and indeed centuries before the outbreak of the First
World War in 1914, the native regimes of the Middle East had been,
in every sense, losing ground to Europe. The khanates of Central
Asia, including Khiva and Bukhara, had fallen to Russia, as had
portions of the Persian Empire. The Arab sheikhdoms along the
Gulf coast route from Suez to India had been brought under British
sway; and Cyprus and Egypt, though formally still attached to
Turkey, were in fact occupied and administered by Britain. The
Anglo-Russian Agreement of 1907 brought Afghanistan into the
British sphere, and divided most of Persia between Britain and
Russia. In the Moslem Middle East, only the Ottoman Empire
effectively retained its independence—though precariously, as its
frontiers came under pressure.

Indeed, the still-independent Turkish Sultanate looked out of
place in the modern world. Like a ruined temple of classical anti-
quity, with some of its shattered columns still erect and visible to
tourists such as those aboard the Enchantress, the Ottoman Empire
was a structure that had survived the bygone era to which it be-
longed. It was a relic of invasions from the east a millennium ago:
beginning around AD 1,000, waves of nomad horsemen streamed
forth from the steppes and deserts of central and northeast Asia,
conquering the peoples and lands in their path as they rode west.
Pagan or animist in religious belief, and speaking one or other of the
Mongolian or Turkish languages, they carved out a variety of prin-
cipalities and kingdoms for themselves, among them the empires of
Genghis Khan and Tamerlane. The Ottoman (or Osmanli) Empire,
founded by Turkish-speaking horsemen who had converted to Islam,
was another such empire; it took its name from Osman, a borderland
ghazi (warrior for the Moslem faith) born in the thirteenth century,
who campaigned on the outskirts of the Eastern Roman (or
Byzantine) Empire in Anatolia.
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In the fifteenth century Osman's successors conquered and re-
placed the Byzantine Empire. Riding on to new conquests, the
Ottoman Turks expanded in all directions: north to the Crimea, east
to Baghdad and Basra, south to the coasts of Arabia and the Gulf,
west to Egypt and North Africa—and into Europe. At its peak, in
the sixteenth century, the Ottoman Empire included most of the
Middle East, North Africa, and what are now the Balkan countries of
Europe—Greece, Yugoslavia, Albania, Rumania, and Bulgaria—as
well as much of Hungary. It stretched from the Persian Gulf to the
river Danube; its armies stopped only at the gates of Vienna. Its
population was estimated at between thirty and fifty million at a time
when England's population was perhaps four million; and it ruled
more than twenty nationalities.

The Ottomans never entirely outgrew their origins as a marauding
war band. They enriched themselves by capturing wealth and slaves;
the slaves, conscripted into the Ottoman ranks, rose to replace the
commanders who retired, and went on to capture wealth and slaves
in their turn. Invading new territories was the only path they knew
to economic growth. In the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries,
when the conquests turned into defeats and retreats, the dynamic of
Ottoman existence was lost; the Turks had mastered the arts of war
but not those of government.

Ottoman leaders in the nineteenth century attempted programs of
sweeping reform. Their goals were the centralization of government;
the establishment of an executive branch under the Sultan's chief
minister, the Grand Vizier; the rationalization of taxation and con-
scription; the establishment of constitutional guarantees; the found-
ing of secular public schools offering technical, vocational, and other
training; and the like. A start—but not much more—was made along
these lines. Most of the reforms took place only on paper; and as an
anachronism in the modern world, the ramshackle Ottoman regime
seemed doomed to disappear.

The empire was incoherent. Its Ottoman rulers were not an ethnic
group; though they spoke Turkish, many were descendants of once-
Christian slaves from Balkan Europe and elsewhere. The empire's
subjects (a wide variety of peoples, speaking Turkish, Semitic,
Kurdish, Slavic, Armenian, Greek, and other languages) had little in
common with, and in many cases little love for, one another.
Though European observers later were to generalize about, for
example, "Arabs," in fact Egyptians and Arabians, Svrians and
Iragis were peoples of different history, ethnic background, and
outlook. The multinational, multilingual empire was a mosaic of
peoples who did not mix; in the towns, Armenians, Greeks, Jews,
and others each lived in their own separate quarters.

Religion had some sort of unifying effect, for the empire was a
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theocracy—a Moslem rather than a Turkish state—and most of its
subjects were Moslems. The Ottoman Sultan was regarded as caliph
(temporal and spiritual successor to the Prophet, Mohammed) by the
majority group within Islam, the Sunnis. But among others of the
seventy-one sects of Islam, especially the numerous Shi'ites, there
was doctrinal opposition to the Sultan's Sunni faith and to his claims
to the caliphate. And for those who were not Moslem (perhaps 25
percent of the population at the beginning of the twentieth century),
but Greek Orthodox, Roman Catholic, Armenian Catholic, Armenian
Gregorian, Jewish, Protestant, Maronite, Samaritan, Nestorian
Christian, Syrian United Orthodox, Monophysite, or any one of a
number of others, religion was a divisive rather than a unifying
political factor.

The extent to which religion governed everyday life in the Middle
East was something that European visitors in the nineteenth and
early twentieth centuries found remarkable; for religion had played
no such role in Europe for centuries. Indeed, Europeans visited the
Middle East largely to see the past. They came to see Biblical sites,
or excavated wonders of the ancient world, or nomads who lived as
they had in the time of Abraham.

The Porte, too, appeared to live in the past. Ottoman officials
continued to pretend, for example, that Bulgaria formed part of the
empire long after losing control of that territory in 1878, and counted
Egyptians as among its subjects even after Britain occupied Egypt in
1882. For this and other reasons, Ottoman statistics were unreliable,
and it is only in the roughest sense that we can say that the empire's
population in the early twentieth century may have been about
twenty to twenty-five million, in a territory—depending on how it is
defined—about six times the size of Texas. It comprised, broadly
speaking, most of the Arabian peninsula and what is now Turkey,
Israel, Lebanon, Jordan, Syria, and lIragq.

Until the early twentieth century, the Ottoman Empire was for
most of the time under the absolute personal rule of the Sultan. In at
least one respect he was quite unlike a European monarch: as the son
of a woman of the harem, he was always half-slave by birth. Under
his rule civil, military, and Holy Law administrations could be
discerned in an empire carefully divided into provinces and cantons.
But the appearance of orderly administration—indeed of effective
administration of any sort—was chimerical. As Gertrude Bell, an
experienced English traveler in Middle Eastern lands, was later to
write, "No country which turned to the eye of the world an appear-
ance of established rule and centralized Government was, to a greater
extent than the Ottoman Empire, a land of make-believe."* There
were army garrisons, it is true, scattered about the empire, but
otherwise power was diffuse and the centralized authority was more
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myth than reality. Gertrude Bell, in the course of her travels, found
that outside the towns, Ottoman administration vanished and the
local sheikh or headman ruled instead. There were districts, too,
where brigands roamed at will. The rickety Turkish government was
even incapable of collecting its own taxes, the most basic act of
imperial administration. On the eve of the First World War, only
about 5 percent of taxes was collected by the government; the other
95 percent was collected by independent tax farmers.®

Foreign countries exercised varying degrees of influence and con-
trol within the empire. It was not only that Egypt and Cyprus were
in fact governed by Britain, which had occupied them in the late
nineteenth century; and that the sheikhdoms along the Gulf coast
were under British control. Lebanon, a separate canton under ar-
rangements established in 1864, was governed by a Christian military
governor directly serving under the Porte which, however, was ob-
liged to act only in consultation with six European powers. Russia
and France reserved to themselves the right to protect, respectively,
the Orthodox and Catholic populations of the empire; and other
powers also asserted a right to intervene in Turkish affairs on behalf
of the groups they sponsored.

What was more than a little unreal, then, was the claim that the
Sultan and his government ruled their domains in the sense in which
Europeans understood government and administration. What was
real in the Ottoman Empire tended to be local: atribe, aclan, a sect,
or a town was the true political unit to which loyalties adhered.
This confused European observers, whose modern notions of citizen-
ship and nationality were inapplicable to the crazy quilt of Ottoman
politics. Europeans assumed that eventually they themselves would
take control of the Ottoman domains and organize them on a more
rational basis. In the early years of the twentieth century it was
reasonable to believe that the days of Turkish dominion were
numbered.

By 1914 the much-diminished Ottoman Empire no longer ruled
North Africa or Hungary or most of southeastern Europe. It had
been in a retreat since the eighteenth century that finally looked like
a rout. For decades, in the Ottoman army and in the schools,
discontented men had told one another in the course of clandestine
meetings that the empire had to be rapidly changed to meet the
intellectual, industrial, and military challenges of modern Europe.
Stimulated but confused by the nationalism that had become Europe's
creed, intellectuals amongst the diverse Turkish-speaking and Arabic-
speaking peoples of the empire sought to discover or to forge some
sense of their own political identity.

In the final years before the outbreak of the First World War,
obscure but ambitious new men took power in the Ottoman Empire,
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relegating the Sultan to a figurehead position. The new men, leaders
of the Young Turkey Party, were at once the result and the cause of
ferment in Constantinople, the Ottoman capital, as they tried to
meet the challenge of bringing Turkey's empire into the twentieth
century before the modern world had time to destroy it.

Constantinople—the city originally called Byzantium and today
known as Istanbul—was for more than eleven centuries the capital
of the Roman Empire in the East, and then for more than four
centuries the capital of its successor, the Ottoman Empire. Like
Rome, Constantinople was built on seven hills and, like Rome, it was
an eternal city: its strategic location gave it an abiding importance in
the world's affairs.

Constantinople is a collection of towns located principally on the
European side of the great waterway that links the Mediterranean to
the Black Sea, at a point where the channel separating Europe from
Asia narrows to widths of as little as a half-mile. The site is a natural
fortress, difficult to conquer or even to attack. A bay some four miles
long, known as the Golden Horn, forms a magnificent natural harbor
that provides shelter and protection for a defending fleet.

In 1914 the population of Constantinople stood at about a million.
It was a cosmopolitan and polyglot population: most residents of the
city were Moslem, Greek, or Armenian, but there was also a con-
siderable colony of European and other foreigners. A European
influence was evident in the architectural style of the newer buildings,
in the style of dress, and in such innovations as street lights.

Rudimentary modernization had only just begun. In 1912 electric
lighting had been introduced into Constantinople for the first time.*
A start had been made toward constructing a drainage system for the
city's narrow, filthy streets; and the packs of wild dogs that for
centuries had patrolled the city were, by decision of the municipal
council, shipped to a waterless island to die.” Some work had been
done on the paving of roads, but not much; most streets still turned
to mud in the frequent rainstorms, or coughed dry dust into the air
as winds blew through the city.

Violent alternating north and south winds dominated the city's
climate, bringing sudden changes of extreme heat or cold. The
political climate, too, was subject to sudden and extreme changes at
the beginning of the twentieth century; and for many years prior to
1914 British observers had shown that they had no idea where the
winds were coming from or which way they were blowing. Political
maneuverings at the Sublime Porte, the gate to the Grand Vizier's
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offices from which the Ottoman government took its name, were
conducted behind a veil of mystery that the British embassy time and
again had failed to penetrate.

The British embassy, like those of the other Great Powers, was
located in Pera, the European quarter of the city, which lay to the
north of the Golden Horn. Foreign communities had grown up in
proximity to their embassies, and lived their own lives, separately
from that of the city. In Pera, French was the language of legation
parties and entertainments; Greek, not Turkish, was the language of
the streets. Three theaters offered revues and plays imported from
Paris. The Pera Palace Hotel offered physical facilities comparable
with those available in the palatial hotels of the major cities of
Europe.

Most Europeans succumbed to the temptation to live in the iso-
lation of their own enclave. Few were at home in the narrow, dirty
lanes of Stamboul, the old section of the city south of the Golden
Horn, with its walls and fortifications crumbling into ruin. One of
the few who felt at ease on either side of the Golden Horn was an
Englishman named Wyndham Deedes, who had come to play an
important role in the new Young Turkey administration.

Deedes was from a county family of Kent: four centuries of
English country gentlemen had preceded him. After Eton, he took a
commission in the King's Own Rifles, and for twenty-two years
thereafter he remained a British officer. (When asked once about the
horrors of the Boer War, he replied, "Well, anything was better than
Eton.")® Early in his military career, Deedes volunteered to serve
in the Ottoman Gendarmerie, a newly created Turkish police force
commanded by European officers. Its creation was a reform forced
upon the Sultan by the European powers, for the old police force
had become indistinguishable from the robber bands it was supposed
to suppress. Deedes and his European colleagues were commissioned
as officers of the new force while, at the same time, retaining their
commissions in their respective national armies.

As viewed in old photographs, Deedes looked an oddity in the
oriental surroundings in which service in the Gendarmerie placed
him. Small, painfully thin, and light-complexioned, he did not blend
into the Ottoman landscape. Ascetic and deeply Christian, he had
little use for sleep, rest, or food. He worked fifteen hours a day,
indifferent to comfort and careless of danger; nobody could have
been more unlike the Turkish officers who, if European accounts
were to be believed, were in many cases corrupt and cowardly. He
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made a success of his challenging assignment, and won popularity
with the Turks.

Deedes was an unknown figure when he entered the Gendarmerie
in 1910. Four years later he had achieved such high standing that he
was co-opted by the leading figure in the new Ottoman government
to help run the Ministry of the Interior. By the time of his thirty-first
birthday in 1914, Deedes, who had learned to speak Turkish fluently,
was one of the few Englishmen who understood Turkish affairs. Yet
his government did not make real use of his experience and knowl-
edge. One of the continuous themes of the years to come was that
Deedes was a Cassandra: his government chose to disregard his
warnings and to ignore his accurate analyses of Turkish political
motives.

The minister under whom Deedes served in the Ottoman govern-
ment in 1914 was Mehmed Talaat. Most of what the British govern-
ment thought it knew at the time about Talaat and about the political
party that Talaat led was erroneous; and at least some of it could have
been corrected by Deedes. But the British embassy in Constantinople
believed that it knew the truth about Ottoman politics already, and
therefore that it did not have to inquire further.

v

Mehmed Talaat, the Minister of the Interior and the leader of the
largest faction within the governing political party, was a figure
whom British diplomats did not regard as a gentleman. They believed
that he lacked race and breeding; they scornfully reported that he
was of gypsy origin. He had thick black hair, heavy black eyebrows,
a hawk-like nose, and what one of the few sympathetic British
observers described as "a light in his eyes, rarely seen in men but
sometimes in animals at dusk."’

Talaat was the single most important figure in Turkish politics.
He was very much a self-made man. Little is known of his origins
and background except that they were humble. He began life as a
minor employee of the Post and Telegraph Office and is believed
to have been a Bektashi, that is, a member of the largest of the
Turkish Dervish orders. (The Dervishes were Moslem religious
brotherhoods.) He is believed to have joined a Freemason lodge, is
known to have organized a secret political society, and to have been
imprisoned for a time for his underground activities.

Joining a secret organization was a common activity in the Ottoman
Empire of Talaat's youth. Under the autocratic Sultan Abdul Hamid,
who reigned from 1876 to 1909, open political activity was dangerous.
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The Sultan, who suspended the constitution and disbanded Parlia-
ment, was intolerant of dissent and employed a secret police force to
deal with it. The political life of the empire was driven underground,
where secret societies proliferated. The earliest ones took their inspi-
ration from nineteenth-century European revolutionary groups,
especially the Italian carbonari, and organized themselves into cells
of a handful of members, only one of whom, typically, would know a
member of another cell. Many of them, including the forerunner of
the Young Turkey Party, were founded by university and military
academy students. The army, too, was an especially fertile breeding
ground for such societies; its younger members were shamed by
their empire's disastrous showing on one battlefield after another.

Abdul Hamid's police forces succeeded in smashing the secret
societies in Constantinople and elsewhere. Beyond their grasp, how-
ever, was Salonika, the bustling and un-Turkish Macedonian port in
what is now Greece. Salonika is where a number of the secret
societies established their headquarters, developing close relationships
with members of the Ottoman Third Army, which had its head-
quarters there. The disorder and disintegration with which the Third
Army had to deal in Macedonia—a frontier region of the empire—in
itself was a formative experience that helped the secret societies to
enlist recruits within the ranks of the army.

Talaat, who lived and worked in Salonika, was one of the founders
of one such secret society which eventually became the principal
faction within a merged group that called itself the Committee of
Union and Progress—the C.U.P. as it will be called hereafter. It was
known, too, as the Young Turkey Party, and later its members were
called the Young Turks. Upon joining it, initiates swore an oath on
the Koran and a gun. Djemal Bey, a staff officer who later played a
major role in Middle Eastern politics, was Talaat's initial recruit
among the leadership of the Third Army.

One day in 1908 a junior army officer named Enver, who was
stationed in Salonika and who had also joined Talaat's group, was
ordered to return to Constantinople. Afraid that his membership had
been discovered by the secret police, he slipped out of Salonika and
took to the hills, to which another Young Turkey army colleague had
already escaped. Then another army officer followed his example,
taking troops and ammunition with him. The Sultan sent troops
against them, but the troops joined the rebels. There was a spon-
taneous combustion of a bloodless revolution in Salonika: the C.U.P.
took control. The Young Turks seized control of the Telegraph
Office—it may have been no coincidence that Talaat was one of
its officials—and established contact with C.U.P. cells that honey-
combed the army and the empire. When the smoke had cleared the
constitution had been restored, parliamentary and party politics had
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resumed, and the following year the Sultan abdicated in favor of his
brother.

The old politicians took office, while the Young Turks remained
in the.background. But the C.U.P. had become a force with which
to reckon, and not merely because of its strong representation in the
officer corps of the army. In a disorganized society, the strength of
the C.U.P. was that it had branches everywhere, criss-crossing the
empire.

The leaders of the successful uprising at first enjoyed a good-
enough press in the western world so that in common parlance
"Young Turks" came to mean any brash group of young people with
dynamic ideas who rebel against an outmoded leadership. They were
viewed with sympathy by the Foreign Office in London, but were
disliked and disdained in the British embassy in Constantinople. The
ambassador, Sir Gerard Lowther, seems to have fallen completely
under the influence of Gerald FitzMaurice, his First Dragoman, or
official interpreter and adviser on oriental affairs; and FitzMaurice
detested the C.U.P. almost from the very outset.

FitzMaurice's interpretation of the events of 1908 was colored by
the fact that they had occurred in Salonika, about half of whose
130,000 inhabitants were either Jews or Dunmehs (members of a
Jewish sect that had converted to Islam in the seventeenth century).
Salonika was also a city in which there were Freemason lodges.
Emmanuel Carasso (or Karasu), a Jewish lawyer, had founded an
Italian Freemason lodge in which he apparently allowed Talaat's
secret society to meet when it was in hiding from the Sultan's secret
police. FitzMaurice concluded that the C.U.P. was a Latin-influenced
international Jewish Freemason conspiracy; and Lowther duly re-
ported this to the Foreign Office in London. Lowther referred to the
C.U.P. as "the Jew Committee of Union and Progress."*®

FitzMaurice later conducted an investigation of the C.U.P., the
results of which were reflected in a confidential report sent by Lowther
under his own name on 29 May 1910, to the official head of the
Foreign Office, Sir Charles Hardinge. In hisreport, Lowther pointed
out that "liberie, egalite, fraternite’ (liberty, equality, fraternity),
words drawn from the French Revolution, were both the slogan of
the Italian Freemasons (hence Karasu's lodge) and of the Young
Turkey movement. The Young Turks, he claimed, were "imitating
the French Revolution and its godless and levelling methods. The
developments of the French Revolution led to antagonism between
England and France, and should the Turkish revolution develop on
the same lines, it may find itself similarly in antagonism with British
ideals and interests."”®

In his detailed report of more than 5,000 words, Lowther alleged
that Jews had taken over a Freemason network ("The Oriental Jew
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is an adept at manipulating occult forces ...") and through it had
taken control of the Ottoman Empire. Amongst the ringleaders of
the Jewish Freemason conspiracy, according to Lowther, was the
U.S. ambassador to Turkey, Oscar Straus, whose brothers owned
the New York department stores Macy's and Abraham & Straus.

The danger to England, wrote Lowther, is that "The Jew hates
Russia and its Government, and the fact that England is now friendly
to Russia has the effect of making the Jew to a certain extent anti-
British ... a consideration to which the Germans are, | think,
alive."" Indeed, Lowther concluded, "I have reason to believe that
my German colleague is aware of the extent to which Jewish and
Latin Masonry inspires the Committee, and that he has confidentially
kept his Government informed as to this feature of Young Turkey
politics."

However, when the 288-man Ottoman Parliament was elected in
1908, only four Jews were elected to it, and when the C.U.P. created
a Central Committee in 1909, Karasu was not elected to member-
ship on it, nor did he ever rise to a leadership position either in the
party or in the government; he was never the influential figure that
foreigners supposed him to be. As deputies in Parliament, Karasu
and the three other Jews bent over backwards to prove that they
were Turks first and Jews only second; indeed, they supported the
C.U.P.'s measures against Zionist settlement in Palestine. Lowther
explained this away by claiming that the new goal of Zionism was to
create a Jewish homeland not in Palestine but instead in a section of
what is now Iraqg.

The FitzMaurice and Lowther report won wide acceptance among
British officials and led the British government into at least three
profound misconceptions that had important consequences.

The first of these concerned the inner workings of the C.U.P.
FitzMaurice and Lowther misled their government into believing
that the Young Turks were controlled by two men. Talaat and
Djavid ("who is a Crypto-Jew") were, according to FitzMaurice and
Lowther, "the official manifestations of the occult power of the
Committee. They are the only members of the Cabinet who really
count, and are also the apex of Freemasonry in Turkey."* In fact
the C.U.P. was split into factions—factions with which the British
government could have intrigued, had it known that they existed.*
It was an ironic coincidence that Djavid, whom FitzMaurice and
Lowther feared as a Crypto-Jew, was the leader of the pro-British
faction; but FitzMaurice and Lowther did not know that.

A second misconception was that a group of Jews wielded political

Karasu, however, did attempt at various times to reconcile the aims of Zionism
with those of C.U.P. nationalism.
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power in the Ottoman Empire—or indeed anywhere else in the world
at that time. A few years later FitzMaurice drew an obvious con-
clusion from his misconception: that the world war (in which Britain
was by then engaged) could be won by buying the support of this
powerful group. Its support could be bought, he decided, by promis-
ing to support the establishment of a Jewish homeland in Palestine
(he had by then determined that the Zionist movement desired to
return to Zion, not to Iraq). This reasoning helped to persuade the
Foreign Office that it ought to pledge British support to the Zionist
program—which it eventually did in 1917.

FitzMaurice's misinformation led to yet another conclusion
with important consequences: that the Young Turk leaders were
foreigners, not Turks, and that they served foreign interests. This
was the opposite of the truth, and led British observers to miscalcu-
late what the Young Turk government would do. In fact, as even
FitzMaurice and Lowther saw, a principal failing of the C.U.P. was
its Turkish chauvinism. It discriminated against Jews, Armenians,
Greeks, Arabs, and others. Its strength was that it was opposed to all
foreign interests; its anti-European bias attracted wide popular
support.

The British government never learned that Lowther and FitzMaurice
had supplied it with a warped view of Ottoman politics. John
Buchan, who became wartime Director of Information for the British
government, described the C.U.P. leaders as "a collection of Jews
and gipsies," pictured the Ottoman government as the tool of world
Jewry, and called Enver Pasha "a Polish adventurer" —confusing him
with another Turkish officer whose name was similar and whose
father was Polish though not Jewish.**

\%

The years after 1908 proved to be a disaster for the Ottoman Empire,
in a war against Italy and in another against a Balkan coalition; and,
in 1913, it was in the process of losing a second Balkan War when the
C.U.P. suddenly seized control of the government. Young Enver—
the same officer who had precipitated the events of 1908 in Salonika—
impetuously led a raid on the Sublime Porte; his raiding party killed
the Minister of War. Enver and his friends took office; he was
promoted to a field command in which he covered himself with
glory, and on 4 January 1914, he took over the War Ministry for
himself. Thirty-one years old, Enver married the niece of the Sultan,
moved into a palace, and became the center of attention in Turkish
politics.

Djemal Pasha became Military Governor of Constantinople, and
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in that position consolidated the C.U.P.'s hold on the seat of govern-
ment. Halil Bey, President of the Chamber of Deputies, also assumed
an important role, as did Mehmed Djavid, an economics teacher who
was appointed Minister of Finance. Talaat, the principal C.U.P.
leader, became Minister of the Interior and the real leader of the
government. The courtly Prince Said Halim provided respectability
as Grand Vizier and Foreign Minister.

The British government sent out a new ambassador, Sir Louis
Mallet, who was sympathetic to the Young Turks. He too, however,
was uninformed about what was happening in Constantinople. Where
his predecessor had detected Jewish and German control, Mallet sent
dispatches to London that radiated a misleading optimism about the
Porte's intentions. Like the previous ambassador, Mallet failed to
understand what the C.U.P. leaders believed Turkey's interests to
be.

In London the Cabinet persisted in accepting Lowther and
FitzMaurice's mistaken notion that the C.U.P. was a monolithic
body. Lowther and FitzMaurice had reported that it was controlled
by Talaat and Djavid, while according to later reports—followed by
most historians—it was ruled by a dictatorial triumvirate of Enver,
Talaat, and Djemal. In fact, as the German archives now show,
power was wielded by the C.U.P.'s Central Committee of about
forty members, and especially by its general directorate of about
twelve members who functioned as a sort of politburo, in which
personal rivalries abounded. Decisions of the Central Committee
were reflected in the positions taken by party members in the Cabinet
and in the Chamber of Deputies.

The C.U.P. encompassed a variety of opinions, and was rife with
faction and intrigue. There was, however, a consensus about the
nature of the threat that the Ottoman Empire faced and about the
nature of the policy that ought to be adopted to counter it.
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THE YOUNG TURKS URGENTLY
SEEK AN ALLY

The Young Turk outlook on current affairs was colored by the
trauma of continuing territorial disintegration. The provinces of
Bosnia and Hercegovina (in what is now Yugoslavia), nominally still
Turkish, were formally annexed by Austro-Hungary in 1908—a
troubling move that provided the background in 1914 to the as-
sassination of the Archduke Francis Ferdinand and the outbreak of
the First World War. ltaly, a latecomer to imperial expansion, made
no secret of her designs on Ottoman territory and, on a flimsy
pretext, attacked Turkey and in 1911 — 12 captured the coast of what
is now Libya, as well as Rhodes and other islands off the Turkish
coast. At about the same time, Albania revolted against Ottoman
rule, raising a serious question as to whether the empire could hold
the loyalties of its non-Turkish subjects.

Meanwhile, in the First Balkan War (1912—13) the Balkan League
(Bulgaria, Greece, Montenegro, and Serbia) defeated Turkey and
annexed almost all of the territory the Ottoman Empire still held in
Europe. In the Second Balkan War (1913), the Ottoman Empire
managed to regain some territory in Thrace, immediately across the
water from Asiatic Turkey; but that looked to offer merely a brief
respite in the empire's continuing disintegration. In Constantinople,
the band of Young Turk adventurers who had seized power and who
ruled the empire as the Sultan's ministers, feared that their domains
were in mortal danger and that the European predators were closing
in for the kill.

Only a short time before, the nations of Europe had divided up the
African continent among themselves. Some of them were now hungry
for new conquests. There were not many directions in which they
could look. Much of the surface of the globe was already taken: a
quarter by the British Empire and a sixth by the Russian Empire.
The western hemisphere fell within the ambit of the Monroe Doctrine
and thus was shielded by the United States. The Middle East was

45
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the only vulnerable region left. There were rumors of French am-
bitions in Syria; of Italian and Russian designs further north; and of
rival Greek, Bulgarian, and Austrian claims to the west. Beyond the
eampfires, the C.U.P. leaders could sense the animals in the dark
moving in for the attack.

The C.U.P. leadership was convinced that its program of freeing
the empire from European control—a program that British states-
men, among others, either did not know about or did not under-
stand—would precipitate the attack. Ambivalent in its attitude toward
Europe—scorning it as non-Moslem, while admiring its modern ways
and achievements—the C.U.P. intended to throw off the shackles of
Europe in order to imitate Europe more closely. The Young Turks
seem to have had no coherent plan for bringing European economic
domination to an end, but they wanted, somehow, to do it.

A vital item on the C.LT.P.'s internal agenda was the modernization
of transport and communications. European interests were willing to
supply the networks and systems which the Ottoman Empire lacked,
but of course wanted to own them, preferably on the basis of exclu-
sive concessions. The C.U.P. leaders, like other Ottoman leaders
before them, wanted the European technologies to be introduced but
were determined to avoid European ownership or control. During
the nineteenth century, Turkey had created her own postal service,
even though it coexisted within the empire alongside postal ser-
vices maintained for themselves by various European powers.’ Re-
jecting an offer from a British company, the Ottoman Empire also
created its own telegraph network.” A few telephones were in use in
Constantinople and Smyrna in 1914; a foreign group had been given
a concession to install a telephone system in Constantinople in 1911,
but had not made much progress.®

The coming of the steamship had put Ottoman maritime traffic
largely in the hands of foreign interests. Such as they were, the
empire's few railway lines were also in foreign hands.* There were
few roads and still fewer automobiles to make use of them: 110 in
Constantinople and 77 elsewhere by 1914. The traditional form of
transportation was the caravan of camels, horses, mules, and animal-
drawn carts—and it could not compete against the foreign-owned

"It is a measure of the iow degree of development of the Ottoman Empire that
in 1914, its 1,900,000 square kilometers had only 5,991 kilometers of railways," all
of it single-track.*
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railroads. The usual speed of a mixed caravan was between two and
three miles an hour, and its daily stage was only between fifteen and
twenty miles.” Railroad speeds were at least ten times greater, and
the railroad cost of transporting goods was perhaps only 10 percent
of the caravan cost.’

The C.U.P. dilemma lay in wanting to switch from caravan to
railroad without allowing the empire to pass into the control of the
Europeans who owned the railroads. Europeans already exercised an
economic preponderance which the C.U.P. resented but could do
nothing about. Turkey was in the unequal position of being able
to supply only natural resources and having to import her manu-
factured needs. Industrialization was necessary in order to redress
the balance; but the Porte had no program to achieve it. The empire
could supply only unskilled labor; as the Europeans constructed
railroads and other types of machinery, they brought along Euro-
peans to maintain them. Technical training for the local population
was what was needed; again the Porte had no program to provide it.

Europeans also shared in the control of what is at the heart of a
political entity: its finances. Because the Porte had defaulted on a
public debt of more than a thousand million dollars in 1875, the
Sultan was obliged to issue a decree in 1881 that placed administration
of the Ottoman public debt in European hands. A council was
created for the purpose and was given control of almost one-quarter
of the Ottoman Empire's revenues. It wielded exclusive authority
over the customs duties on such basic items as alcoholic spirits,
stamps, salt, and fish." The Sublime Porte was no longer master
even of its own Treasury or Customs House. The C.U.P. wanted to
take back control in these areas, though it had no refinancing program
to propose.

Bitterly resented by all Ottoman leaders were the Capitulations,
the concessions that provided Europeans with a privileged economic
position within the empire and which placed them for many purposes
under the jurisdiction of their own consuls rather than of the
Ottoman courts. No Turkish policeman could enter the premises of a
European or American without the permission of the latter's consul.
The C.U.P. wanted to cancel these Capitulation privileges.

Another ground for C.U.P. resentment was that the European
powers had, on occasion, violated Ottoman sovereignty in inter-
vening in defense of Christian minorities and Christian rights. The
European disposition to do so posed a threat to the C.U.P.'s secret
agenda, for the Young Turks proposed to assert their power not only
against foreigners but also against other groups inhabiting the empire.
This ran contrary to what they had pledged in 1908. The public
program of the C.U.P. had called for equal rights for all the many
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religious, ethnic, and linguistic groups that resided within the empire.
Once in power the C.U.P. showed the dark side of its nationalism by
asserting instead the hegemony of Turkish-speaking Moslems over
all others. The Turkish-speaking and Arabic-speaking populations of
the empire were roughly equal—each about 10 million people, or
about 40 percent of the total population apiece—yet in the Ottoman
Chamber of Deputies there were perhaps 150 Turks as against only
about 60 Arabs. (The figures are not exact because it is not clear in
every case who was Arab and who was Turk.) The remaining 20
percent of the population, including the important Greek, Armenian,
Kurdish, and Jewish communities, was discriminated against even
more severely than were the Arabs. According to the eleventh edition
of the Encyclopaedia Britannica (1910—11), the Ottoman Empire at
the time was inhabited by twenty-two different "races", yet "no such
thing as an Ottoman nation has ever been created." If ever there
were a chance of creating one, the C.U.P. leaders threw it away by
excluding 60 percent of the population from its purview.

Talaat, Enver, and their colleagues were nationalists without a
nation. Within the empire (as distinct from the steppes to its east),
even those who spoke Turkish were often of non-Turkish origin. Sir
Mark Sykes, a British Member of Parliament who had traveled
extensively in Asia, began one of his books by asking: "How many
people realize, when they speak of Turkey and the Turks, that there
is no such place and no such people ... ?"* The ancient homeland of
the Turkish peoples, Turkestan, was in the possession of Russia and
China. More than half the Turkish peoples of Asia lived either there
or elsewhere outside the Ottoman Empire, so that the Czar could lay
greater claim to speak for the ethnic Turks than could the Sultan.
Enver Pasha was later associated with the dream of reuniting all the
Turkish-speaking peoples and domains of Asia, and certainly the
idea was familiar to him in 1914—intellectually it was in the air—but,
as of then, it did not enter into his plans. A small man, much
addicted to theatrical gestures and to large programs that began with
the prefix "pan-," Enver was also supposed to harbor pan-Islamic
ambitions. His treatment of Arab fellow-Moslems shows that this,
too, was a slogan that he did not translate into policy.

In the view of the C.U.P. leadership, Europe would not let the
empire survive in any event—and certainly would not allow the
C.U.P. to carry through its program—unless one of the Great Powers
could be induced to become Turkey's protector. Thus the search for
a European ally was the urgent and overriding item on the C.U.P.
agenda. Djemal Pasha was pro-French, but when eventually he heard
that Enver had proposed an alliance with Germany, he approvingly
commented that "I should not hesitate to accept any alliance which
rescued Turkey from her present position of isolation."*
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All shades of opinion within the C.U.P. were in agreement that the
most urgent item on Turkey's agenda was to secure a powerful
European ally. The Young Turks believed that one of the European
blocs or indeed any one of the leading Great Powers—Britain,
France, or Germany—could protect the Ottoman Empire against
further encroachments on its territory. Other than Russia, the
countries that were most likely to invade the Ottoman Empire were
powers of lesser strength: Italy, Austria-Hungary, Greece, or
Bulgaria.

Djavid, the pro-British C.U.P. Minister of Finance, had already
appealed to Britain. His appeal had been made in 1911, at the time
of the initial Italian attack on Turkey. Churchill was the only senior
Cabinet minister who had wanted to respond positively. Arguing
that Turkey's friendship was more important than Italy's, Churchill
wrote to the Foreign Secretary that Turkey "is the greatest land
weapon wh the Germans cd use against us"* At the end of 1911,
when Djavid wrote to propose a permanent alliance with Britain,
Churchill wanted to send an encouraging reply, but the Foreign
Office would not agree to his doing so.**

Between May and July 1914, with increasing urgency the C.U.P.
leaders secretly approached three other European Great Powers in
search of an ally.” Djemal, the Minister of Marine, who was pro-
French, made overtures to France but was rebuffed. Talaat, in
desperation, approached Russia—which was like asking the chief
burglar to become chief of police—and his proposal, too, was
rebuffed. Finally, the C.U.P. leaders conferred together at the villa
of the Grand Vizier and authorized Enver, who had served in Berlin,
to approach Germany with a request for an alliance. Enver made his
approach on 22 July 1914. His proposal was turned down by Hans
von Wangenheim, Germany's ambassador in Constantinople. The
Ottoman Empire's diplomatic isolation was complete; no Great Power
would agree to protect it.

The Ottoman War Minister was quite open in explaining to the
German ambassador why the Young Turks were seeking an ally.
Enver explained to von Wangenheim that the domestic reforms
planned by the C.U.P. could be carried out only if the Ottoman
Empire were "secured against attacks from abroad."' He expressed
his belief that the empire could be secured against such attacks only
by "the support of one of the groups of Great Powers."* Apparently
he was unable to persuade the German ambassador that the Ottoman
Empire had anything of sufficient value to give in return.

The government of Britain, meanwhile, was unaware of the flurry
of Turkish diplomatic activity and did not realize that the Porte was
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urgently seeking a Great Power alliance. A few days after the German
ambassador in Constantinople rejected the Ottoman proposal, British
ministers received their first intimation that a war crisis might
arise in Europe that could involve Britain. Between 23 July 1914,
when Austria-Hungary sent an ultimatum to Serbia, and 4 August,
when Britain unexpectedly found herself at war alongside the
Entente Powers (France and Russia) and against the Central Powers
(Germany and Austria-Hungary), few thoughts were spared for the
Ottoman Empire; but to the extent that they were, the common
assumption was that Germany might attempt to entice the Ottoman
Empire into an alliance.

British leaders at the time never suspected that it was the other
way around: that Turkey was seeking an alliance with Germany, and
that Germany was reluctant to grant it. Even after the war was over,
when it was discovered that Talaat and Enver had sought the alliance,
details of how the Ottoman Empire and Germany forged their al-
liance remained obscure. Contemporaries and a number of historians
blamed Winston Churchill, who was said to have driven the Turks
into Germany's arms; but the still-emerging evidence from diplomatic
archives tells a different and more complex story—which began in
1914, on the eve of a sudden war crisis that neither Churchill nor his
Cabinet colleagues had foreseen.



5

WINSTON CHURCHILL ON THE
EVE OF WAR

In 1914, at the age of thirty-nine, Winston Churchill was about to
begin his fourth year as First Lord of the Admiralty in the Liberal
government of Prime Minister Herbert Asquith. Though he admin-
istered his important departmental office ably and vigorously, he was
not then the imposing figure the world later came to know. His
energy and talent—and his gift for publicizing his own exploits—had
brought him forward at an early age; but it was largely the amused
indulgence of the Prime Minister and the powerful sponsorship of
David Lloyd George, the Chancellor of the Exchequer, that sustained
him in his governmental position. He was a decade or more younger
than the other members of the Cabinet, and the opinion was wide-
spread that he was not sufficiently steady or mature to have been
entrusted with high office.

He still spoke with the trace of a schoolboy lisp. His face had just
begun to lose its last hints of adolescence. Only recently had the
belligerent tilt of the head, the brooding scowl, and the thrusting
cigar started to take command; and his sandy hair had begun to thin
a bit. He had put on some weight in recent years, but was not yet
portly. Of ruddy complexion, medium height, and with a hint of
rounded lines, he was physically unprepossessing; only with hind-
sight could it have been seen that he would one day appear formidable.

It was not his person but his driving personality that fascinated
those who encountered him. He was a mercurial figure, haunted by
the specter of his brilliant, diseased father who had died a political
failure at the age of forty-five. Fearing that he, too, would die young,
Churchill had shamelessly elbowed friend and foe aside in his dash to
the top in the short time that he believed still remained to him. Some
suspected that, like his father, he was emotionally unbalanced, while
others regarded him as merely too young. He combined aspects of
greatness with those of childishness; but his colleagues recognized
the childishness more readily than they did the greatness. He was
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moody; he took things personally; and he often embarked on lengthy
tirades when instead he should have been listening or observing.
Though generous and warm-hearted, he was not sensitive to the
thoughts and feelings of others, and often was unaware of the effect
produced by his own words and behavior. He was noisy; he brought
passion into everything he undertook. Colleagues who aimed at
detachment and understatement found him tiresome.

He often changed his views; and since he always held his views
passionately, his changes of mind were as violent and extreme as they
were frequent. He had been a Tory and now was a Liberal. He had
been the most pro-German of ministers and had become the most
anti-German. He had been the leading pro-Turk in the Cabinet and
was to become the most anti-Turk. To his enemies he appeared
dangerously foolish, and even his friends remarked that he allowed
himself to be too easily carried away.

Unlike the others, he disdained to play it safe. He had soldiered in
India, seen war in Cuba and the Sudan, and become a hero by
escaping from a prisoner-of-war camp in South Africa. Taking risks
had brought him fame and had catapulted him to the top in politics.
He was happy in his marriage and in his high government office, but
his temperament was restless: he sought worlds to conquer.

Three years before—in the summer of 1911—an unexpected op-
portunity had opened up for him to fulfill some of his ambitions. At
that time, during the course of a brief international crisis, the Asquith
government had been shocked to learn that the Admiralty was not
prepared to carry out wartime missions in support of the army. To
their amazement, Cabinet ministers at the time were told that the
Royal Navy was unable to transport a British Expeditionary Force
across the English Channel. They also learned that the Admiralty
was unwilling to create a Naval War Staff. It became clear to Asquith
and his colleagues that a new First Lord of the Admiralty had to be
appointed to institute basic reforms.

Churchill, then Home Secretary, angled for the job, and his
mentor, Lloyd George, proposed him for it. Predictably, his candi-
dacy was hampered by his youth. At thirty-six he was already, with a
solitary exception, the youngest person ever to serve as Home Sec-
retary; and his many enemies, who claimed that he had pushed
himself forward with unseemly haste, argued that he had run ahead
of himself. To them he appeared to possess in excess the characteristic
faults of youth: obstinacy, inexperience, poor judgment, and impul-
siveness. The other leading contender for the position of First Lord
expressed warm admiration for Churchill's energy and courage, but
echoed the usual accusation that the young Home Secretary was too
apt to act first and think afterward.*

For whatever reason, the Prime Minister decided to take a chance
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on Churchill; and the record of the Admiralty from the summer of
1911 to the summer of 1914 showed that he had won his wager.
Inspired by Lord Fisher, the retired but still controversial Admiral
of the Fleet, Churchill had transformed the coal-burning nineteenth-
century fleet into an oil-burning twentieth-century navy.

Elected to Parliament for the first time in 1900, Churchill took his
seat (in 1901) as a member of the Conservative Party: a Unionist
(the term usually used at this period), or a Conservative, or (using
the older word) a Tory. But on the bitterly disputed issue of free
trade, in 1904, he crossed the floor of the House and joined the
Liberals.

As a political renegade, Churchill was distrusted by both
parties—not entirely without reason, for his political instincts were
never wholly at one with either of them. He tended toward Liberalism
on social and economic issues, but on questions of foreign and
defense policy his instincts were Tory. Churchill was belligerent
by nature and out of sympathy with the streak of idealistic pacifism
that ran through the Liberal Party. He inherited a genius for war-
fare from Britain's greatest general, his ancestor the Duke of
Marlborough; he had been schooled at a military academy rather
than at a university; he had served on active duty as an army officer;
and he was enthralled by the profession of arms. When Violet
Asquith, aboard the Enchantress in 1912, looked out at the lovely
Mediterranean coastline and exclaimed, "How perfect!", he replied,
"Yes—range perfect—visibility perfect—If we had got some six-inch
guns on board how easily we could bombard

As war clouds suddenly gathered over the summertime skies of
1914, Liberal pacifists seemed to be out of touch with events while
Churchill at the Admiralty seemed to be the right man at the right
place at the right time.



CHURCHILL SEIZES TURKEY'S
WARSHIPS

On the outbreak of war, Winston Churchill briefly became a national
hero in Britain. Although the Cabinet had refused him permission to
do so, he had mobilized the fleet on his own responsibility in the last
days of peacetime and had sent it north to Scapa Flow, where it
would not be vulnerable to a German surprise attack. What he had
done was probably illegal, but events had justified his actions, which
in Britain were applauded on all sides.

Margot Asquith, the Prime Minister's wife, once wondered in her

diary what it was that made Winston Churchill pre-eminent. "It
certainly is not his mind," she wrote. "Certainly not hisjudgment—he
is constantly very wrong indeed ..." She concluded that: "It is of

course his courage and colour—his amazing mixture of industry and
enterprise. He can and does always—all ways puts himself in the
pool. He never shirks, hedges, or protects himself—though he thinks
of himself perpetually. He takes huge risks [original emphasis]."*

Mobilizing the fleet despite the Cabinet's decision not to do so was
a huge risk that ended in triumph. In the days following Britain's
entry into the war even his bitterest political enemies wrote to
Churchill to express their admiration of him. For much of the rest of
his life, his proudest boast was that when war came, the fleet wasready.

At the time, his commandeering of Turkish battleships for the
Royal Navy was applauded almost as much. An illustrated page
in the Taller of 12 August 1914 reproduced a photograph of a
determined-looking Churchill, with an inset of his wife, under the
heading "BRAVO WINSTON! The Rapid Mobilisation and Purchase of
the Two Foreign Dreadnoughts Spoke Volumes for your Work and
Wisdom."*

The battleships were the Reshadieh and the larger Sultan Osman |.
Both had been built in British shipyards and were immensely power -
ful; the Osman mounted more heavy guns than any battleship ever
built before.® Each originally had been ordered by Brazil, but then
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had been built instead for the Ottoman Empire. The Reshadieh,
though launched in 1913, had not been delivered because the Turks
had lacked adequate modern docking facilities to accommodate her.
With Churchill's support, Rear-Admiral Sir Arthur H. Limpus,
head of the British naval mission, had lobbied successfully with
the Ottoman authorities to secure the contract to build docking
facilities for two British firms—Vickers, and Armstrong Whitworth.
The docking facilities having been completed, the Reshadieh was
scheduled to leave Britain soon after the Sultan Osman |, which was
to be completed in August 1914.

Churchill was aware that these vessels meant a great deal to the
Ottoman Empire. They were intended to be the making of the
modern Ottoman navy, and it was assumed that they would enable
the empire to face Greece in the Aegean and Russia in the Black Sea.
Their purchase had been made possible by patriotic public subscrip-
tion throughout the empire. The tales may have been improved in
the telling, but it was said that women had sold their jewelry and
schoolchildren had given up their pocket-money to contribute to the
popular subscription.” Admiral Limpus had put out to sea from
Constantinople on 27 July 1914, with ships of the Turkish navy,
waiting to greet the Sultan Osman | and escort her back through the
straits of the Dardanelles to the Ottoman capital, where a "navy
week" had been scheduled with lavish ceremonies for the Minister
of Marine, Ahmed Djemal, and for the cause of British-Ottoman
friendship.

Churchill, who was reckoned the most pro-Turk member of the
Asquith Cabinet, had followed with care, and had supported with
enthusiasm, the mission of Admiral Limpus in Turkey ever since its
inception years before. The British advisory mission to the Ottoman
navy was almost as large as the similar German mission to the
Ottoman army, led by the Prussian General of Cavalry, Otto Liman
von Sanders. The two missions to some extent counter-balanced
each other. British influence was thought to be strong in the Marine
Ministry. German influence was strongest in the War Ministry. In
London little was known of Middle Eastern politics, but Churchill
enjoyed the rare advantage of having personally met three of the five
leading figures in the Ottoman government: Talaat, Enver, and the
Minister of Finance, Djavid. He therefore had been given an oppor-
tunity to learn that Britain's conduct as naval supplier and adviser
could have political repercussions in Constantinople.

The European war crisis, however, propelled the newly built
Turkish vessels into significance in both London and Berlin. The
Reshadieh and Sultan Osman | were battleships of the new
Dreadnought class. As such, they overshadowed other surface vessels
and, in a sense, rendered them obsolete. By the summer of 1914 the
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Royal Navy had taken delivery of only enough to give Britain a mar -
gin over Germany of seven Dreadnoughts. Since the European war
was expected to be a short one, there seemed to be no time to build
more of them before battle was joined and decided. The addition of
the two Dreadnoughts built for Turkey would increase the power of
the Royal Navy significantly. Conversely, their acquisition by the
German Empire or its allies could decisively shift the balance of
forces against Britain. It was not fanciful to suppose that the
Reshadieh and Sultan Osman | could play a material role in determin-
ing the outcome of what was to become the First World War.

Early in the week of 27 July 1914, as the First Lord of the
Admiralty took precautionary measures in the war crisis, he raised
the issue of whether the two Turkish battleships could be taken by
the Royal Navy. The chain of events which apparently flowed from
Churchill's initiative in this matter eventually led to him being blamed
for the tragic outbreak of war in the Middle East. In turn he later
attempted to defend himself by pretending that he had done no more
than to carry into effect standing orders. The history of these matters
has been confused ever since because both Churchill's story and the
story told by his detractors were false.

According to Churchill's history of the First World War, British
contingency plans adopted in 1912 provided for the taking of all
foreign warships being built in British yards in the event that war
should ever occur. When the war broke out in 1914, warships were
being built in British yards for Turkey, Chile, Greece, Brazil, and
Holland. According to Churchill, he did nothing more than follow
the regulations adopted in 1912. His version of the matter implied
that he did not single out the Ottoman vessels, but instead issued
orders applicable to all foreign warships then under construction; he
wrote that the arrangements for the taking of such vessels " comprised
an elaborate scheme" that had been devised years before and had
been brought up to date in 1912.°

This account was not true. Seizing the Turkish warships was an
original idea of Churchill's and it came to him in the summer of
1914,

During the week before the war, the question of taking foreign
vessels was raised for the first time on Tuesday, 28 July 1914, in an
inquiry that Churchill directed to the First Sea Lord, Prince Louis
of Battenberg, and to the Third Sea Lord, Sir Archibald Moore.
"In case it may become necessary to acquire the 2 Turkish battle-
ships that are nearing completion in British yards," he wrote,
"please formulate plans in detail showing exactly the administrative
action involved in their acquisition and the prospective financial
transactions."*

Admiral Moore looked into the matter, and found no administrative
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or legal procedure that would justify seizing the Turkish ships. He
consulted one of the legal officers of the Foreign Office, who told
him that there was no precedent for taking any such action. The
Foreign Office lawyer said that if Britain were at war it could be
argued that national interests take precedence over legal rights, but
that since Britain was not at war it would be illegal for Churchill to
take the foreign-owned vessels. The lawyer advised the Admiralty
that, if it really needed the ships, it should try to persuade the
Ottoman government to sell them.’

The Turks suspected what Churchill had in mind, for on 29 July
the Foreign Office warned the Admiralty that the Sultan Osman |
was taking on fuel and was under orders to depart for Constantinople
immediately, even though wunfinished.” Churchill immediately
ordered the builders of both battleships to detain them. He also
ordered British security forces to guard the vessels and to prevent
Turkish crews from boarding them or from raising the Ottoman flag
over them (which would have converted them, under prevailing
international law, into Ottoman territory).

The following day the Attorney-General advised Churchill that
what he was doing was not justified by statute, but that the welfare
of the Commonwealth took precedence over other considerations and
might excuse his temporarily detaining the vessels.” A high-ranking
permanent official in the Foreign Office took the same point of view
that day but placed it in a broader and more practical political
perspective. "I think we must let the Admiralty deal with this ques-
tion as they consider necessary,” he minuted, "and afterwards make
such defence of our action to Turkey as we can."*’

On 31 July the Cabinet accepted Churchill's view that he ought to
take both Turkish vessels for the Royal Navy for possible use against
Germany in the event of war; whereupon British sailors boarded the
Sultan Osman |. The Ottoman ambassador called at the Foreign
Office to ask for an explanation, but was told only that the battleship
was being detained for the time being.™

Toward midnight on 1 August Churchill wrote instructions to
Admiral Moore, in connection with the mobilization of the fleet, to
notify both Vickers and Armstrong that the Ottoman warships were
to be detained and that the Admiralty proposed to enter into nego-
tiations for their purchase.**

For the first time Churchill noted that warships were also being
built in British shipyards for countries other than Turkey. Admiral
Moore had brought this to the First Lord's attention several days
before, but Churchill had not responded; now—although the other

* This opinion was rendered a week before, the outbreak of war between Britain
and Germany.
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foreign vessels were not of equal importance—he ordered them to be
detained, too, for completion and eventual purchase.

On 3 August the Admiralty entered into arrangements with
Armstrong for taking the Sultan Osman | into the Royal Navy
immediately.”” That evening the Foreign Office cabled the British
embassy in Constantinople with instructions to inform the Ottoman
government that Britain desired to have the contract for the purchase
of the Osman transferred to His Majesty's Government.” The fol-
lowing day Sir Edward Grey sent a further cable to Constantinople,
saying that he was sure the Turkish government would understand
Britain's position, and that "financial & other loss to Turkey will
receive all due consideration."*

A key, but overlooked, point is that the Ottoman government did
not learn for the first time of Churchill's seizure of the battleship
when officially informed of it in the 3 August cable. The Turks knew
that the battleships were being taken on 31 July, and on or before 29
July strongly suspected that they were going to be taken. The signifi-
cance of these dates will become clear presently.

In Berlin the onset of the war crisis on 23 July led to some second
thoughts about the value of Turkey as an ally. On 24 July 1914,
Kaiser Wilhelm Il personally overruled the negative decision of his
ambassador to Constantinople, and ordered that Enver's offer of an
alliance should be explored. An Austrian ultimatum to Serbia—the
ultimatum that initiated the war crisis in Europe—had been de-
livered the previous evening, and the Kaiser decided that "at the
present moment" Ottoman interest in contracting an alliance should
be taken advantage of "for reasons of expediency."'*

Secret talks began at once in Constantinople. On the Ottoman
side, the negotiators were Prince Said Halim, the Grand Vizier and
Foreign Minister; Talaat Bey, Minister of the Interior; and Enver
Pasha, Minister of War. Although Enver had told the German am-
bassador that a majority of the members of the C.U.P. Central
Committee were in favor of an alliance with Germany, the three
Ottoman leaders kept their negotiations secret from the Central
Committee and even from their powerful colleague Djemal Pasha,
Minister of the Marine."”

On 28 July the Ottoman leaders forwarded their draft of a proposed
treaty of alliance to Berlin. Despite the Kaiser's views, the German
Prime Minister, Chancellor Theobald von Bethmann Hollweg, re-
mained unenthusiastic about the potential entanglement. On 31 July,
the day the General Staff told him to issue the order to go to war,
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Bethmann Hollweg sent a wire to his ambassador in Constantinople,
instructing him not to sign a treaty of alliance with the Ottoman
Empire unless he was certain that "Turkey either can or will under-
take some action against Russia worthy of the name."**

August 1 was the crucial day in the negotiations. Details of what
was said in the course of the bargaining are still not known. On the
German side, von Wangenheim was operating under direct instruc-
tions from the head of his government: the Chancellor in Berlin had
made it quite clear that the Ottoman proposal should be rejected
unless the Turks had something unexpectedly significant to contribute
to the German cause in the war. In fact, the Turks did not want to
join in the fighting at all. As later events were to show, the Grand
Vizier and his associates hoped that they would not be dragged into
the war. Thus on the face of it they had little to offer. Yet by the end
of the day the three Young Turks had wrung an alliance agreement
from the Germans, which both sides signed the following afternoon.

Not merely had the negotiations been conducted in secret, but
Article 8 of the treaty provided that the agreement should continue
to be kept secret. Article 4 was what the C.U.P. leaders had chiefly
sought: " Germany obligates itself, by force of arms if need be,
to defend Ottoman territory in case it should be threatened."”
Germany's obligation was a continuing one for the length of the
treaty, which was scheduled to expire on 31 December 1918.

The Ottoman Empire in turn undertook to observe strict neutrality
in the then current conflict between Serbia and Austria-Hungary and
to go to war only if Germany were required to enter the fighting by
the terms of her treaty with Austria. In such circumstances, and in
such circumstances only, the Ottoman Empire pledged that it too
would intervene, and would allow the German military mission in
Constantinople to exercise "effective influence" over the conduct of
its armies.

The day after the treaty was signed, the Porte ordered general
mobilization to begin, but also proclaimed neutrality in the European
conflict. The treaty remained a secret; and Enver and his co-
conspirators claimed that the program of mobilization was not di-
rected against the Allied Powers. The Ottoman leaders went out of
their way in conversations with Allied representatives to stress the
possibility of friendly relationships, and Enver went so far as to
suggest that Turkey might join the Allies.

* The treaty was signed the day after Germany had declared war on Russia.
Germany had not been required to declare war by the terms of her treaty with
Austria; as it happened, Germany declared war several days before Austria-Hungary
did. The oddly drawn treaty with the Ottoman Empire therefore did not—if read
literally—obligate the Turks to enter the war.
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Berlin, hitherto skeptical of what the Ottoman Empire could con-
tribute, now became anxious to obtain Turkish assistance. On
5 August the Chief of the German General Staff, who only weeks
before had said that the Ottoman Empire at Germany's side would
not be an "asset," began to press for Turkish aid against Britain as
well as Russia;* but the Turks refused to be hurried into taking
action. Indeed the lack of transportation facilities made it impossible
for the empire to mobilize swiftly.

The army had been guided for several years by a German military
mission, so the German ambassador presumably had been informed
that it would be physically impossible for the Ottoman Empire to
enter the war until the late autumn or the winter. Since almost
everybody's assumption on 1 August was that the war would be
over within a few months, von Wangenheim had granted the
Young Turks an alliance even though he must have believed that the
Ottoman Empire would not be ready to fight until the war was
almost over. Yet his instructions from Berlin were that he should not
conclude an alliance unless the Young Turks could prove to him that
they had something meaningful to contribute to the German war
effort. What was that "something meaningful" ?

The common assumption of historians seems to be that the Turks
offered nothing new that day—that, in effect, von Wangenheim
ignored his instructions from Berlin. If so, he may have been seeking
to please the Kaiser; or it may be that the threatened outbreak of a
general European war led him to view the Ottoman Empire as more
significant militarily than he had believed ten days before. If, how-
ever, von Wangenheim did attempt to follow the instructions he had
received from Berlin, then the question which historians have not
asked becomesintriguing: what did Enver offer Germany on 1 August
that was so important that the German ambassador changed his
mind and agreed that, in return, Germany would protect the Ottoman
Empire?

A couple of decades ago, a curious fact came to light. A student of
the German diplomatic archives disclosed that they showed that on
1 August 1914 Enver and Talaat, in a meeting with Ambassador
von Wangenheim, suddenly offered to turn over to Germany one of
the most powerful warships in the world: the Sultan Osman.* Von
Wangenheim accepted the offer; and British Intelligence reports
from behind German lines two weeks later showed that officers of
the German fleet had eagerly expected to receive the vitally important
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new warship—and apparently were bitterly disappointed when
Churchill seized the vessel instead.*

Historians have not examined this episode in any great detail,
possibly because on the surface it seems so difficult to explain. Enver
and Talaat could not possibly have intended to give away Turkey's
prize battleship, in which the populace had invested so much emotion
as well as money; and in which the empire took such pride; it would
have been political suicide for any Ottoman leader to even propose to
do so. Yet the evidence cannot be disputed; in secret, they made von
Wangenheim the offer.

In another connection, some twenty years ago a student of the
Ottoman archives mentioned, in passing, a conversation that might
provide an explanation. On the same day that Enver and Talaat
made their offer to Germany—1 August 1914—Enver revealed to
fellow Young Turk leaders that Britain had seized the Osman.*
Thus on 1 August he already knew! Indeed—since it is now known
that, in London, the Turks suspected on 29 July that Churchill was
about to seize the Osman, and on 31 July protested that he had
already done so—it is entirely possible that even before 1 August
Enver knew that the battleship had been taken by Britain.

Might this not provide the answer to an earlier question? Von
Wangenheim was not supposed to grant the Ottoman Empire an
alliance unless the Turks could show that they would make a material
contribution to the defeat of the Allies. But nonetheless he agreed to
an alliance on 1 August, when the week before he had not believed
that the Ottoman armed forces could make such a contribution. Was
not the offer of the Osman on 1 August, therefore, the material
contribution that bought Enver and Talaat their German alliance?

If Enver and Talaat knew before making their secret offer that
they had already lost the Osman to Britain—that it was therefore no
longer theirs to dispose of—they could have made the offer; they
could have made it with impunity. In fact the Germans never dis-
covered that they had been duped. They seem to have assumed that
Enver and Talaat meant to keep their side of the bargain, and only
learned they could not do so when they received official notification
of Churchill's action several days later—after Germany had already
signed a pledge to protect the Ottoman Empire against its enemies,
largely in return (it is speculated here) for Enver's and Talaat's
worthless promise.
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AN INTRIGUE AT THE SUBLIME
PORTE

In the course of the secret negotiations between Germany and the
Young Turks in Constantinople on 1 August, Enver, the Minister
of War, held a private meeting in the German embassy in Constan-
tinople with the German ambassador, Hans von Wangenheim, and
with the head of the German military mission, Otto Liman von
Sanders.” The three men discussed the form that military collabora-
tion between their countries might take if Turkey and Bulgaria
should contract with each other to join in a war against Russia on
Germany's side. It seemed to them that naval mastery was essential
if a successful campaign were to be mounted. They concluded that
the German Mediterranean fleet, consisting of the powerful Goeben
and its sister ship, the Bredau, should come to Constantinople to
strengthen the Ottoman fleet in the Black Sea so as to give the
Turkish-Bulgarian armies a free hand in invading Russia. Signifi-
cantly, none of the three men appears to have believed that the
Osman might be available to fulfill that function. Presumably Enver
already knew that he had lost the battleship to Britain; while the
Germans believed that the vessel—under orders from Enver—was
going to join the German fleet at a North Sea port, so that the
Goeben and the Breslau, which already were in the Mediterranean,
could more conveniently come to Constantinople.

After the conference, Liman and von Wangenheim requested their
government to send the German ships to Turkey. On 3 August the
German Admiralty dispatched orders to that effect to Rear-Admiral
Wilhelm Souchon, commander of the Mediterranean Squadron. The
wireless message reached Souchon in the early morning of 4 August,
when he was close to the coast of Algeria where he intended to
disrupt the flow of troops from French North Africa to the mainland
of France. Deciding not to turn back immediately, Souchon first
shelled two port cities of Algeria, and only then turned back to refuel
in the neutral Italian port of Messina in Sicily, where German
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coaling-stations awaited him. Slowed down by defective boilers on
the Goeben, the squadron did not reach Messina until the morning of
5 August.

At his refueling stop, Souchon received a telegram from Berlin
apparently changing his orders again. Enver had not consulted his
colleagues before inviting the German warships to Constantinople;
they were by no means anxious to be drawn into the fighting, and
when the Ottoman government learned that the ships were en route,
it warned Berlin not to let them come. Berlin cabled Souchon that
his call on the Ottoman capital was "not possible"; but Souchon
chose to interpret this merely as a warning rather than as an order,
and determined to proceed to Turkey to force the issue. This per-
sonal decision of the German admiral was a turning point in events.

Meanwhile, the British, whom Churchill had ordered to shadow
the Goeben, had lost sight of her under cover of night on 4 August;
but on the 5th she was sighted again, and the commanding English
admiral positioned his naval squadron to intercept her when she
should come out of the straits of Messina after refueling. He placed
his squadron west of Sicily, to meet her as she returned to attack
North Africa again, which is what he supposed she would do. A
much smaller force was already stationed in the Adriatic Sea, far to
the northeast, to block her should she attempt to return to her home
port of Pola (in what "was then Austria, but is now Yugoslavia).

On the British side there was as massive a failure of political
imagination in London, as there was of military competence at sea.
It seems never to have occurred to the Foreign Office, the War
Office, or the Admiralty that the Ottoman Empire ought to figure in
strategic calculations. Neither in London nor in the field did anybody
in command consider the possibility that Admiral Souchon might be
headed toward Constantinople. They assumed that when he headed
east it was in order to elude them and double back toward the west.

When the Goeben and her sister ship, the Bresau, emerged from
the straits of Messina on 6 August, Admiral Souchon expected to
find his way blocked by a superior British force. Instead he found
the way clear, and set his course toward the Aegean.

"It was all the Admirals' fault,” the Prime Minister's daughter
later told Churchill. "Who but an Admiral would not have put a
battle-cruiser at both ends of the Messina Straits, instead of putting
two at one end and none at the other?"* She advised him to retire all
his admirals and promote captains in their place.

Souchon did encounter a British naval contingent as he steamed
eastward, but it withdrew rather than risk battle with the formidable
Goeben. After prodigies of exertion on the part of the Germans, and
of blundering on the part of the English pursuers, Souchon's force
arrived at the entrance to the straits of the Dardanelles.
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At 1:00 in the morning on 6 August, the Grand Vizier discussed the
fate of the Goeben and Bresau with the German ambassador. The
British Mediterranean Squadron was following close behind the two
German ships, so that if Turkey refused them admittance to the
straits, they would be trapped between the Turkish forts in front of
them and the British squadron behind them. The Grand Vizier, Said
Halim, announced that his government had decided to allow the
German ships to enter the straits so that they could make good their
escape. But, he said, conditions were attached to this permission;
and when he announced what they were, it became clear that his
terms were steep. They showed that—contrary to what British ob-
servers believed—the Young Turk government intended to escape
domination by the Germans, as well as other Europeans. The Porte
demanded that Germany accept six far-reaching proposals, the first
of which was high on the list of C.U.P. priorities—abolition of
the Capitulations, and thus of privileges hitherto accorded to the
Germans and other Europeans. Other proposals guaranteed Turkey
a share of the spoils of victory if Germany won the war. From a
German point of view these proposals were outrageous, but unless
von Wangenheim wanted to abandon the Goeben and Bredau to the
long-range guns of the British navy, he had no choice but to agree.
The Turks had him at gun point.

At the Admiralty in London, Turkey's decision to admit the
German warships looked like collusion between Constantinople and
Berlin. Churchill and his colleagues had no idea that what really was
going on was extortion; and Churchill angrily dashed off a telegram
to his forces ordering them to institute a blockade of the Dardanelles.*
He had no authority to issue such an order on his own and, had
the order been carried out, it could have been construed in
Constantinople as an act of war. In reply to a request for clarification,
the Admiralty cabled back that there had been a "mistake in
wording" and "no blockade intended."* Instead the British ships
were to wait in international waters for the German ships to come
out.

Britain protested to the Sultan's government that under accepted
conventions of international law Turkey, as a neutral, was obliged
either to send the German ships back out or to intern them. The
Ottoman government did neither. Instead, the legal situation
prompted the Porte to extract further concessions from the Germans.

Von Wangenheim had barely recovered from the extortionate
demands of 6 August when, on 9 August, the Grand Vizier had more
news for the German ambassador. Said Halim announced that the
Ottoman Empire might join with Greece and Rumania in a public
pact of neutrality in the European conflict. If so, something would
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have to be done about the continuing presence of the Goeben and the
Breslau in Turkish waters so as not to compromise Turkish neu-
trality. The Porte proposed a fictitious purchase of the two warships:
the Turks would take over ownership of the vessels, and would
pretend to have paid for them. In that way there could be no
objection to the ships remaining in Turkey; there would be no
breaching of the laws of neutrality.

On 10 August the German Chancellor cabled von Wangenheim
from Berlin rejecting this Turkish proposal and urging immediate
Turkish entry into the war. The Young Turk leaders, however,
were reluctant to involve the empire in the European conflict. Von
Wangenheim was summoned that day to the Sublime Porte, where
the Grand Vizier angrily reproached him for the premature arrival of
the Goeben and the Bredau. lgnoring his own government's com-
plicity in the affair of the German warships, Said Halim repeated his
proposal that the ships should be transferred to Turkish ownership.
Von Wangenheim refused the proposal.

The Ottoman government thereupon unilaterally issued a public
declaration falsely claiming that it had bought the two German
cruisers and had paid eighty million marks for them. Public opinion
throughout the empire was elated, and on 14 August a frustrated von
Wangenheim advised Berlin that there was no choice but to go along
with the "sale"; to disavow it risked turning local sentiment violently
around against the German cause. His advice was heeded, and at a
ceremony on 16 August the Minister of the Marine, Djemal Pasha,
formally received the vessels into the Ottoman navy.

The Turks did not have the trained officers and crews that were
needed to operate and maintain such sophisticated vessels, and de-
cided that, for the time being, the Germans should do it for them.
Admiral Souchon was appointed commander of the Ottoman Black
Sea Fleet, while his sailors were given fezzes and Ottoman uniforms,
and went through the forms of enlisting in the Sultan's navy.® In
London the entire episode was viewed as a calculated German
maneuver designed to show that Germany was generously restoring
to the Ottoman Empire the type of modern warships that Churchill
had wrongfully taken away; and, even today, historians continue to
repeat that account of the affair.

It was little more than a week since angry schoolchildren had
poured into the streets of Constantinople to protest at Churchill's
seizure of the battleships that had been purchased with their money.*
British government leaders were certain that there was a connec-
tion between the two events. The Prime Minister's comment about
Turkey's "purchase" of the German ships was that "The Turks are
very angry—not unnaturally—at Winston's seizure of their battleships
here."’

In turn, Churchill became angry at the Turks. On 17 August the
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Prime Minister noted that "Winston, in his most bellicose mood all
for sending a torpedo flotilla thro' the Dardanelles—to threaten & if
necessary to sink the Goeben & her consort."® Cabinet opinion,
however, was swayed by the views of the Secretary of State for War
and the Secretary of State for India, who argued that it would be
damaging for Britain to appear to be the aggressor against the
Ottoman Empire.

It appeared, however, that the Ottoman Empire was moving toward
the enemy camp, and the plausible explanation commonly accepted
in London was that it was Churchill's seizure of the Turkish battle-
ships which had caused that to happen. Wyndham Deedes, who had
returned from Turkey to England in a daring journey via Berlin,
went to see his friend, the Ottoman ambassador, in London and
discovered that, in fact, that explanation was untrue: the battleships
were not at the heart of the problem. Of course the Porte was upset
about the seizure of the ships, but would not change its pro-German
policy even if the ships were returned.

Fear of Russian expansionism was at the heart of the Porte's
policy. The Turkish ambassador told Deedes that if the Allies won
the war, they would cause or allow the Ottoman Empire to be
partitioned, while if Germany won the war, no such partition would
be allowed to occur.” That was why the Porte had become pro-
German. Deedes denied that the Allies would allow the Ottoman
Empire to be partitioned, but the ambassador had been told by
Enver that the Allied Powers had given similar assurances years
before but had not kept their word. (Enver did not mention that, in
addition, Germany had given a written guarantee to protect Ottoman
territory. He and his colleagues continued to keep their treaty of
alliance with Germany a secret, and its existence was not revealed
until many years later.)

Deedes was alarmed by his conversation with the Turkish am-
bassador, and warned the new British War Minister, Lord Kitchener,
that Turkey was drifting into the enemy camp because of her fears of
Allied intentions. Since Britain had allied herself with Russia—Russia,
which had been attempting to dismember the Ottoman Empire for a
century and a half—it would be no easy task to reassure the Porte,
but Deedes urged that the effort should be made.

Churchill, meanwhile, was increasingly belligerent toward the
Ottoman Empire, which he regarded as becoming enemy territory.
Information reaching him in the last half of August indicated that
German officers and men were moving overland, through neutral
Bulgaria, to assume positions in the Ottoman armed forces. As
early as 26 August Admiral Limpus had reported to Churchill that
"Constantinople is almost completely in German hands at this
moment."*’
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Churchill continued to press for action. On 1 September he ini-
tiated staff talks between the Admiralty and the War Office to
plan an attack on Turkey in the event of war. The following day
he received authority from the Cabinet to sink Turkish vessels if
they issued from the Dardanelles in company with the Goeben and
Breslau. Later he authorized his Dardanelles squadron commander
to use his own discretion as to whether to turn back Turkish vessels
attempting to come out from the Dardanelles by themselves. This
was a blunder: it drove the Turks to strike back with stunning
effectiveness.

Pursuant to Churchill's authorization, the squadron stopped a
Turkish torpedo boat on 27 September and turned it back; for,
in violation of Ottoman neutrality, it had German sailors aboard. In
retaliation, Enver Pasha authorized the German officer commanding
the Turkish defenses of the Dardanelles to order the straits to be
sealed off and to complete the laying of minefields across them. This
cut off the flow of Allied merchant shipping and thus struck a
crippling blow. The Dardanelles had been Russia's one ice-free
maritime passageway to the west. Through them she sent 50 percent
of her export trade, notably her wheat crop which, in turn, enabled
her to buy arms and ammunition for the war.”” Had the Allied
leaders realized that the First World War was going to develop into a
long war of attrition, they could have seen that Turkey's mining of
the straits threatened to bring down Czarist Russia and, with her,
the Allied cause.

Free passage through the Dardanelles had been assured by treaty;
once again the Ottoman authorities were violating their obligations
under international law, and once again they appeared to have been
provoked to do so by the actions of Winston Churchill.

Yet the Ottoman Empire made no move to declare war. Its position
of passive hostility left Churchill baffled and frustrated.*”

Though Churchill did not know it, from the point of view of the
German government, too, the situation was baffling and frustrating;
German military officers attempting to bring Turkey into the war
found themselves driven to anger and despair.

Berlin was bitterly disappointed that the continuing presence
of the Goeben and Bredau did not provoke Britain into declaring
war; and the German and Austrian ambassadors received repeated
demands from their home governments to push the Turks into
taking action. Both ambassadors recognized, however, that whatever
the Young Turks' ultimate intentions might be, the Grand Vizier
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and his colleagues had valid reasons for not moving toward inter-
vention in the European conflict immediately. Mobilization of the
armed forces was not yet completed; and it was not clear, once
mobilization had been completed, how the fragile Ottoman exchequer
could continue to support it. Moreover, Turkish negotiations with
neighboring Balkan countries, and particularly with Bulgaria, had
not yet come to fruition.

From the beginning, the Porte had made clear its view that Turkey
could intervene in the war only in partnership with Bulgaria. Indeed,
the campaign plan that had been worked out on 1 August by Enver,
Wangenheim, and Liman von Sanders presupposed that Bulgaria
and the Ottoman Empire would combine forces. Bulgaria sat astride
Turkey's principal land route to the rest of Europe and—of more
immediate importance—was a neighbor who coveted additional terri-
tory. Were Bulgaria to invade Turkey while the Ottoman armies
were away fighting the Russians, the empire would be helpless.
"Surely,” the Grand Vizier remarked to the German ambassador,
"Germany would not want Turkey to commit suicide."*

The Bulgarians, however, were reluctant to commit themselves,
and while Talaat succeeded in negotiating a defensive treaty with
Bulgaria, signed on 19 August, which provided for mutual assistance
in certain circumstances in case either country was attacked by a
third party, the terms of the treaty were inapplicable to the situation
that would arise if Turkey should join Germany in the war against
Russia. Bulgaria was not prepared to intervene in the Russo-German
conflict; and, as the Germans in Constantinople had been made to
understand, this meant that the Ottoman Empire, too, would con-
tinue to maintain its neutrality.

Berlin and London both viewed Constantinople with despondency.
Churchill, it will be recalled, no longer believed in Turkish neu-
trality and had proposed to the Cabinet that a flotilla be sent
up to the Dardanelles to sink the Goeben and Bresau. But
in Constantinople only two days later, General Liman von
Sanders—from the opposite point of view—despaired of bringing
Turkey into the war and sent a request to the Kaiser that he and his
military mission be allowed to return home. Like Churchill, he raged
against the Young Turks; he spoke of challenging Enver and Djemal
to duels.”” In his request to the Kaiser, Liman pointed out that
Enver's recent statements and military dispositions indicated that the
C.U.P. intended to keep Turkey on the sidelines until the war was
over, or at least until it became clear beyond a doubt that Germany
was going to win it. He also pointed out that the Ottoman armies
might collapse even before entering the war, for lack of money and
food, if the Porte continued to keep them in a state of mobilization.**
At roughly the same time that Admiral Limpus was reporting to



AN INTRIGUE AT THE SUBLIME PORTE 69

Winston Churchill that Constantinople was almost completely in
German hands, General Liman von Sanders was reporting to the
Kaiser that the whole atmosphere of Constantinople made it almost
unbearable for German officers to continue their service there."

The Kaiser, however, refused Liman's request that he should be
allowed to return to Germany. Germany's plan to win the war
quickly by a rapid victory in western Europe had collapsed at the
first Battle of the Marne in early September; and thereafter Berlin
stepped up the pressure to bring Turkey into the war. The German
ambassador, von Wangenheim, was unable to explain to his home
government how unrealistic, at least for the time being, that project
appeared to be in Constantinople. Even Enver, whom the ambassador
had once described as standing "like a rock for Germany," " believed
that the time for action had not yet come: Turkey was not ready
militarily and, in any event, Enver's colleagues were still opposed to
intervention.

The difference between the ultimate objectives of the two govern-
ments became vividly evident on 8 September 1914, when the Porte
suddenly announced its unilateral abrogation of the Capitulations
privileges of all foreign powers—including Germany. The German
ambassador flew into a rage upon receiving the news, and threatened
that he and the military mission would pack up and leave for home
immediately. In the event, however, neither he nor the mission left.
That they stayed illustrated the improvement in the Turkish bar-
gaining position since late July.

In an extraordinary maneuver, the German and Austrian am-
bassadors joined with their enemies in the war, the British, French,
and Russian ambassadors, in presenting a joint European protest to
the Porte, whereupon it became evident how skillful the Turkish
leaders had been in flirting without committing themselves. For the
German and Austrian ambassadors privately intimated to the Porte
that they would not press the issue for the time being, while the
Allied ambassadors, in turn, intimated that they would accept the
Turkish decision if Turkey continued to remain neutral.

The Porte went ahead to put its decision into effect. In early
October all foreign post offices in the empire were closed; foreigners
were made subject to Turkish laws and courts; and customs duties
on foreign imports not only were taken over, but were also raised.

v
Considering the tangible benefits that had begun to flow from the

policy of non-intervention, it seems astonishing that at about this
time Enver Pasha began to plot against that policy and against its
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leading proponent, the Grand Vizier. The substantial German mili-
tary presence in Constantinople, supported by the Goeben and
Bredau, may have played a role in his calculations; but what Enver
had in mind is more likely to have been the course of the Russo-
German war. In July and August his policy had been motivated by
fear of Russian seizures of Turkish territory; but in September, in
the wake of the Russian collapse, he seems to have turned to thoughts
of Turkey seizing Russian territory. He switched from a defensive to
an aggressive policy. His switch was a turning point in Ottoman and
Middle Eastern affairs.

It may be surmised that the spectacular German military triumphs
over the Russians at the battle of Tannenberg at the end of August,
and in the ongoing battle of the Masurian Lakes that began in
September, persuaded Enver that, if Turkey wanted to win a share
of Russian territory, she would have to intervene soon, before
Germany had won an unaided victory. Hundreds of thousands of
Russian troops had been killed or captured by the Germans, and
even a less impetuous observer than Enver might have concluded
that Russia was about to lose the war. The German victory train was
leaving the station, and the opportunistic Enver seems to have been
jolted into believing that it was his last chance to jump aboard. On
26 September Enver personally ordered the closing of the Dardanelles
to all foreign ships (in effect, to Allied shipping) without consulting
his colleagues. A week later he told von Wangenheim that the Grand
Vizier was no longer in control of the situation.

A bid for power was taking place in Constantinople behind closed
doors. The British Foreign Office, which knew next to nothing about
the internal politics of the C.U.P., took a simplistic view of the
affair. Sir Edward Grey, the Foreign Secretary, later remembered
remarking that "nothing but the assassination of Enver would keep
Turkey from joining Germany," and adding "that, in times of crisis
and violence in Turkey, there were apt to be two classes of person—
assassins and assassinated, and that the Grand Vizier was more likely
than his opponent to belong to the latter class."**

Would it have been possible for a well-informed British am-
bassador to have exerted some influence on the evolution of events in
Constantinople? Historians continue to debate the question, and of
course there is now no way to put the matter to the test.””

Obscure though the details remain, what was going on in the
autumn of 1914 was a process in which rival factions and personalities
maneuvered for support within the C.U.P. Central Committee.
Enver's growing influence came from winning over Talaat Bey to his
point of view, for Talaat headed the principal faction in the party.

Other C.U.P. leaders, while sharing Enver's belief that Germany
would probably win the war, until now had seen no reason to hazard
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their empire's future on the accuracy of that prediction. They were
politicians, while Enver was a warrior, younger and more impetuous
than Churchill but filled with much the same passion for glory. As
War Minister and Germany's best friend, he stood to benefit per-
sonally from the many opportunities to increase his fame and position
that war at Germany's side would offer. A dashing figure who had
enjoyed almost unlimited luck but had demonstrated only limited
ability, he failed to see that bets can be lost as well as won. In
putting his chips on Germany, he thought he was making an invest-
ment—when he was doing no more than placing a wager.

On 9 October, Enver informed von Wangenheim that he had won
the support of Talaat and of Halil Bey, President of the Chamber of
Deputies. The next move, he said, would be to try to gain the
support of Djemal Pasha, Minister of the Marine. Failing that, he
said, he planned to provoke a Cabinet crisis; he claimed, on the basis
of his following in the Central Committee—which, in reality, was
Talaat's following—that he could install a new pro-interventionist
government. Overstating his political strength, Enver assured the
Germans that he could bring Turkey into the war by mid-October.
All he needed, he told them, was German gold to support the
army.”” The Germans, of course, were already aware that the
Ottoman forces would need money; Liman had reported to the
Kaiser that they would be in imminent danger of collapse without it.

On 10 October, Djemal joined the conspiracy. On 11 October,
Enver, Talaat, Halil, and Djemal conferred, and informed the
Germans that their faction was now committed to war and would
authorize Admiral Souchon to attack Russia as soon as Germany
deposited two million Turkish pounds in gold in Constantinople to
support the armed forces. The Germans responded by sending a
million pounds on 12 October and a further million on 17 October,
shipping the gold by rail through neutral Rumania. The second
shipment arrived in Constantinople on 21 October.

Talaat and Halil then changed their minds: they proposed to keep
the gold but, nonetheless, to remain neutral in the war. Enver
reported this to the Germans on 23 October, but claimed that it did
not matter as long as he could still count on the other military service
minister, Djemal. Though he later announced that Talaat had swung
back again to the pro-interventionist cause, Enver gave up attempting
to persuade his party and his government to intervene in the war. He
could not get Turkey to declare war on the Allies so he pinned his
hopes on a plan to provoke the Allied governments to declare war on
Turkey.

Enver and Djemal issued secret orders allowing Admiral Souchon
to lead the Goeben and Breslau into the Black Sea to attack Russian
vessels. Enver's plan was to claim that the warships had been attacked
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by the Russians and had been forced to defend themselves. Admiral
Souchon, however, disobeyed Enver's orders and openly started the
fighting by bombarding the Russian coast. Once again the German
admiral gave history a push. His purpose, he stated later, was "to
force the Turks, even against their will, to spread the war."* As a
result of his actions, it was all too clear that the Goeben and Bresau
had struck a premeditated blow; there was now no lie behind which
Enver could conceal what he had allowed to happen.

The incident led to an open showdown in Constantinople. The
Grand Vizier and the Cabinet forced Enver to cable an order to
Admiral Souchon to cease fire. A political crisis ensued that lasted
for nearly two days, the details of which were veiled even from
the normally well-informed Germans and Austrians. There were
meetings of the Ottoman Cabinet and of the C.U.P. Central
Committee. Debate was joined, threats were issued, coalitions were
formed, resignations were tendered, and resignations were with-
drawn. Apparently the consensus approximated the thinking of
Asquith in Britain just before the outbreak of war: that the first
priority was to maintain party unity. Even though a majority in
the Central Committee supported the newly formed triumvirate of
Talaat, Enver, and Djemal in the view that the Ottoman Empire
now ought to enter the war, it deferred to the views of the minority,
led by the Grand Vizier and the Minister of Finance, rather than
allow a party split to occur.

On 31 October Enver reported to the Germans that his colleagues
in the Cabinet insisted on dispatching a note of apology to the
Russians. From the German point of view this was a dangerous
proposal, but Enver said that, having "duped" his colleagues about
the attack on Russia, he now found himself isolated in the Cabinet;
his hands, he said, were tied.*”

Though Enver and his German co-conspirators did not yet know
it, there was no need for alarm: in London the British Cabinet had
already risen to the bait. The British were unaware of the deep split
in Young Turk ranks and believed the Porte to have been in collusion
with Germany all along. Responding to Souchon's attack even before
the Porte drafted its apology, the Cabinet authorized the sending of
an ultimatum requiring the Turks immediately to expel the German
military mission and to remove the German officers and men from
the Goeben and Bresau. When the Turks did not comply, Churchill
did not bother to refer the matter back to the Cabinet; on his own
initiative he dispatched an order to his forces in the Mediterranean
on the afternoon of 31 October to "Commence hostilities at once
against Turkey."*

The British admiral who received Churchill's order did not carry it
out immediately and, in consequence, Turkey was unaware that
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Britain had gone to war against her. In Constantinople, Enver still
feared that the Turkish apology to Russia might be accepted. To
prevent that from happening, he again foiled the intentions of his
Cabinet colleagues by inserting into the Turkish note an outrageous
allegation that Russia had provoked the attack.” Predictably the
Czar's government rejected the allegation, issued an ultimatum to the
Porte, and on 2 November declared war.

British naval forces commenced hostile operations against the
Ottoman Empire on 1 November. At a dramatic meeting of the
Ottoman Cabinet on the night of November 1—2, even the Grand
Vizier's peace faction was obliged to recognize that the empire was
now at war, like it or not. Yet no declaration of war was issued from
London.

On 3 November, on instructions from Churchill, British warships
bombarded the outer forts of the Dardanelles. Critics later charged
that this was a piece of childish petulance on Churchill's part which
alerted Turkey to the vulnerability of the forts. There is no evidence,
however, that Turkey responded to the warning. At the time, the
chief significance of the bombardment seemed to be its demonstration
that hostilities had commenced.

On 4 November, Asquith confided that "we are now frankly at war
with Turkey."** The formalities, however, were neglected. It was
not until the morning of 5 November that, at a meeting with the
Privy Council, the proclamations of war against the Hohenzollern
and Habsburg empires were amended to include the Ottoman
Empire.

The relative casualness with which the British drifted into the
Ottoman war reflected the attitudes of British Cabinet ministers at
the time: it was not a war to which they attached much importance,
and they made no great effort to prevent it. They did not regard
Turkey as an especially dangerous enemy.

\Y

In London it was still not known—indeed it would not be known
until years later—that Enver had taken the initiative in proposing,
negotiating, and executing a secret treaty of alliance with Germany
before the Admiralty had seized the Turkish battleships. It also was
not known that it was the Porte that had seized the Goeben and
Bredau, and that it had done so over German protest. In Downing
Street the official account was believed, according to which the
Kaiser had initiated the transfer to Turkey of the German vessels to
replace the Osman and Reshadieh in order to win over to Germany
the Turks whom Churchill had alienated.
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It was the common view, therefore, that it was Churchill who had
brought about the war with Turkey. Indeed, Lloyd George continued
to level the charge against him as late as 1921.*° Souchon and Enver
had in fact started the war between Turkey and the Allies, but in the
public imagination of the British it was Churchill who had done so.

Churchill, for his part, began to point out in August 1914—and
continued to point out thereafter—that having the Ottoman Empire
for an enemy had its advantages. Free at last to cut up the Ottoman
Empire and to offer portions of its territory to other countries at the
eventual peace settlement, Britain could now hold out the lure of
territorial gains in order to bring Italy and the Balkan countries into
the war on her side.

Italy, a latecomer to the pursuit of colonial empire, had come to
see the vulnerable Ottoman domains as the principal territories still
available for acquisition. She remained anxious to acquire even more
Ottoman territory. Eventually, the lure of acquisition helped to bring
her into the war on the Allied side.

The Balkan countries, too, coveted additional territorial gains. For
Britain to forge an alliance with all the Balkan countries by the
promise of Ottoman territory required the reconciliation of some of
their rival ambitions; but if this could be achieved, such a combi-
nation would bring powerful forces to bear against the Ottoman and
Habsburg empires, and offered the prospect of helping bring the war
against Germany to a swift and successful conclusion.

Already on 14 August, Asquith noted that "Venizelos, the Greek
Prime Minister, has a great scheme on foot for a federation of Balkan
States against Germany and Austria ..."* On 21 August, Asquith
characterized a number of his ministers as looking to Italy, Rumania,
or Bulgaria as potential allies of importance; Lloyd George as
being "keen for Balkan confederation"; and "Winston violently anti-
Turk." He himself, however, was "very much against any aggressive
action visavis Turkey wh. wd. excite our Mussulmans in India &
Egypt."* Churchill was not so impetuous as that made him sound.
In fact he had taken the time and trouble to communicate personally
with Enver and other Ottoman leaders who were hoping to keep
their country neutral. He had given up on them two months too
soon; but it was only when he had become convinced that there was
no chance of keeping Turkey out of the war that he had swung
around to pointing out the advantages of having her in it.

By the end of August, Churchill and Lloyd George were enthusi-
astic advocates of the Balkan approach. On 31 August Churchill
wrote a private letter to Balkan leaders urging the creation of a
confederation of Bulgaria, Serbia, Rumania, Montenegro, and Greece
to join the Allies. On 2 September he initiated private talks with the
Greek government to discuss the form that military cooperation
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between their two countries might take in an offensive operation
against the Ottoman Empire.

At the end of September, Churchill wrote to Sir Edward Grey
that "in our attempt to placate Turkey we are crippling our policy in
the Balkans. | am not suggesting that we should take aggressive
action against Turkey or declare war on her ourselves, but we ought
from now to make arrangements with the Balkan States, particularly
Bulgaria, without regard to the interests or integrity of Turkey." He
concluded his additional remarks by adding that "All | am asking is
that the interests and integrity of Turkey shall no longer be considered
by you in any efforts which are made to secure common action
among the Christian Balkan States."*

Grey and Asquith were more cautious in their approach, and less
enthusiastic about the proposed Balkan Confederation than were
Churchill and Lloyd George, but in at least one respect their thinking
evolved in a parallel way. In order to persuade Turkey to remain
neutral, the representatives of the British government eventually had
been instructed to give assurances that, if she did so, Ottoman terri-
torial integrity would be respected. From this there followed a con-
verse proposition, that Grey had made explicit as early as 15 August,
"that, on the other hand, if Turkey sided with Germany and Austria,
and they were defeated, of course we could not answer for what
might be taken from Turkey in Asia Minor."*

When the Ottoman Empire entered the war—pulled into it by
Churchill as it seemed then, pushed into it by Enver and Souchon as
it seems now—the conclusion that British policy-makers drew there-
fore seemed to be inescapable. In a speech delivered in London on
9 November 1914, the Prime Minister predicted that the war had
"rung the death-knell of Ottoman dominion, not only in Europe, but
in Asia." "

Earlier in 1914, Sir Mark Sykes, the Tory M.P. who was his
party's leading expert on Turkish affairs, had warned the House of
Commons that "the disappearance of the Ottoman Empire must be
the first step towards the disappearance of our own."* Wellington,
Canning, Palmerston, and Disraeli had all felt that preserving the
integrity of the Ottoman Empire was of importance to Britain and to
Europe. Yet in a little less than a hundred days the British govern-
ment had completely reversed the policy of more than a hundred
years, and now sought to destroy the great buffer empire that in times
past British governments had risked and waged wars to safeguard.

The Cabinet's new policy was predicated on the theory that Turkey
had forfeited any claim to enjoy the protection of Britain. In the
turmoil of war the Asquith government had lost sight of one of the
most important truths about traditional British foreign policy: that
the integrity of the Ottoman Empire was to be protected not in order
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to serve the best interests of Turkey but in order to serve the best
interests of Britain.

In turn, the British decision to dismantle the Ottoman Empire
finally brought into play the assumption that Europeans had shared
about the Middle East for centuries: that its post-Ottoman political
destinies would be taken in hand by one or more of the European
powers.

Thus the one thing which British leaders foresaw in 1914 with
perfect clarity was that Ottoman entry into the war marked the first
step on the road to a remaking of the Middle East: to the creation,
indeed, of the modern Middle East.
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KITCHENER TAKES COMMAND

During the summer and autumn of 1914, as the Ottoman Empire
was drifting into the war, an important new governmental appoint-
ment in London was beginning to affect British policy in the Middle
East. It began, as so many things did, with Winston Churchill.

On 28 July 1914, the same day that he initiated the seizure of the
Turkish vessels, Churchill held a luncheon meeting with Field
Marshal Horatio Herbert Kitchener to discuss the deepening inter-
national crisis. As proconsul in Egypt, the veteran commander of
Britain's imperial armies was responsible for the security of the Suez
Canal and of the troops from India who were to be transported
through it in the event of war. Churchill, the First Lord of the
Admiralty, was responsible for the naval escort of the troopships on
their long voyage to Europe; and over lunch the young politician and
the old soldier exchanged views.

Churchill told Kitchener that "If war comes, you will not go back
to Europe."' It was not what the field marshal wanted to hear.
Kitchener had come to Britain intending to stay only long enough to
attend the 17 July ceremonies elevating him to the rank and title of
Earl Kitchener of Khartoum; he was anxious to return to his post as
British Agent and Consul-General in Egypt as soon as possible. His
eyes had always been turned toward the East; he told King George
that he wanted to be appointed Viceroy of India when that post
became available as scheduled in 1915, though he feared that "the
politicians" would block his appointment.” The crusty, bad-tempered
Kitchener loathed politicians.

Even the disintegrating international situation could not keep him
in London. Early in August he traveled to Dover to catch a Channel
steamer; the plan was that he would take the train from Calais to
Marseilles, and there would board a cruiser for Egypt. Shortly before
noon on 3 August, he boarded the steamer at Dover, and complained
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impatiently when it failed to set off for Calais at the scheduled
departure time.

As it happened, his departure was about to be cancelled rather
than delayed. The previous evening, in the smoking room of Brooks's,
a London club, someone who fell into conversation with a Conserva-
tive Member of Parliament remarked that the War Office was in an
absolutely chaotic state and that it was a pity that Kitchener had not
been asked to take it over. Later that evening, the M.P. reported his
conversation to two of his party's leaders who were in a semi-private
room of the club discussing the international situation. Andrew
Bonar Law and Sir Edward Carson—the leaders to whom the conver-
sation was reported—took the matter up with Arthur Balfour, the
former Conservative Prime Minister, who passed the suggestion on
to Churchill, with whom he was on good terms.

On the morning of 3 August—the day Germany declared war on
France—an article appeared in The Times, written by its military
correspondent, urging the appointment of Kitchener to head the War
Office. That same morning, Churchill saw the Prime Minister and
proposed Kitchener's appointment, though apparently without indi-
cating that the proposal came from the Conservatives as well as from
himself. Churchill's notes indicate that he thought that Asquith had
accepted the proposal at the time; but in fact the Prime Minister was
reluctant to make the appointment, and decided instead to keep
Kitchener in Britain merely in an advisory position.

On board the Channel steamer, which had not yet left Dover,
Kitchener received a message from the Prime Minister asking him to
return immediately to London. The field marshal at first refused;
and it was with difficulty that he was persuaded to disembark. His
fears were justified; back in London he found that Asquith did not
seem to be thinking of a regular position for him, let alone one with
clearly defined powers and responsibilities. Urged on by his col-
leagues, Kitchener decided to force the issue; he went to see the
Prime Minister for a one-hour meeting on the evening of 4 August—
the night Britain decided to go to war, by which time German armies
were already overrunning Belgium—and stated that, if obliged to
remain in London, he would accept no position less than Secretary
of State for War.

Pushed by politicians and the press, the Prime Minister gave way
the next day, and Kitchener was appointed War Minister. As he
wrote: " K. was (to do him justice) not at all anxious to come in, but
when it was presented to him as a duty he agreed. It is clearly
understood that he has no politics, & that his place at Cairo is kept
open—so that he can return to it when peace comes. It is a hazardous
experiment, but the best in the circumstances, | think."* Assuming,
as did nearly everybody else, that the war would last no more than a
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few months, Asquith did not replace Kitchener as Agent and Consul-
General in Egypt; he thought that the field marshal would be re-
turning to his post there shortly. On 6 August Kitchener took up his
new duties in the War Office in Whitehall.

Lord Kitchener lived in a borrowed house in London, making it
plain that he did not intend to stay. It was located just off the
intersection of Carlton House Terrace and Carlton Gardens, less
than a five-minute walk from the War Office, which meant that he
could spend almost every waking moment on the job. He arose at
6:00 a.m., arrived at his office at 9:00 a.m., generally took a cold
lunch there, returned to his temporary home at 6:00 p.m. to read the
evening papers and nap, and then after dinner would read official
cables until late at night.* The glass or two of wine with dinner and
the nightly scotch and soda that had been his comfortsin Egypt were
forsworn; at the request of George V he had pledged to set a national
example by drinking no alcoholic beverages during the war.

Asquith's reluctance to bring the famous soldier into the Cabinet
seems to have been prompted by the fear that, as Secretary for War,
Kitchener, rather than the Prime Minister, would emerge as Britain's
wartime leader. No great soldier had served in a major office of state
since the Duke of Wellington's ministry nearly a century before; and
no serving army officer had been included in a Cabinet since General
George Monk, who in 1660 restored the monarchy and then was
rewarded with high office. The principle of civilian authority had
been upheld jealously since then; but Asquith felt obliged to subordi-
nate it to his urgent need for Field Marshal Kitchener's services.

Kitchener was a figure of legend—a national myth whose photo
hung on walls throughout the kingdom. After he took up his Cabinet
appointment, large crowds would gather to watch him enter and
leave the War Office each day. Asthe Prime Minister's daughter later
wrote:

He was an almost symbolic figure and what he symbolized, |
think, was strength, decision, and above all success . .. [Every-
thing that he touched ‘came off. There was a feeling that
Kitchener could not fail. The psychological effect of his appoint-
ment, the tonic to public confidence, were instantaneous and
overwhelming. And he at once gave, in his own right, a national
status to the government.®

The public, it was said, did not reason about Kitchener, but simply
trusted him completely, saying " Kitchener is there; it is all right."*
In the past he had always brought things to a successful conclusion.

In March 1915 he moved into York House, St James's Palace, a residence
provided for him by King George.
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He had avenged the murder of General Charles George Gordon in
the fall of Khartoum by destroying the empire of the Dervishes and
reconquering the Sudan. The French had then attempted to intrude
upon Britain's imperial domains, but in 1898 Kitchener firmly con-
fronted them at the fort of Fashoda in the Sudan, and the French
contingent backed down and withdrew from the fort. In South
Africa the Boer War had begun badly; then Kitchener came to take
charge and brought it to a victorious conclusion. As commander of
the armies of India in the early twentieth century, he had imposed
his will as decisively as he had done in Egypt.

The far-off outposts of empire in which he won his brilliant
victories lent him their glamor. Distance made him seem at once
magical and larger-than-life, like a sphinx presiding over the desert.
A lone, insecure, and secretive figure who used a small group of
aides as a wall against the world, he appeared instead to be the strong
and silent hero of popular mythology. His painful shyness was not
seen as such; his fear of his political colleagues appeared to be
disdain. A young Foreign Office clerk who watched the field marshal
at a gathering with the Prime Minister, Sir Edward Grey, and David
Lloyd George, recorded in his diary that "Kitchener looked like an
officer who has got mixed up with a lot of strolling players and is
trying to pretend he doesn't know them."’

Tall, broad-shouldered, square-jawed, with bushy eyebrows, brist-
ling moustache, cold blue eyes set widely apart, and an intimidating
glower, he towered physically over his fellows and looked the part for
which destiny and the popular press had cast him. From his earliest
campaigns, he was fortunate in the journalists who followed his
career and who created his public image. He was fortunate, too, in
the timing of his career, which coincided with the rise of imperial
sentiment, literature, and ideology in Britain. Disraeli, Kipling,
A. E. W. Mason (author of Four Feathers), Lionel Curtis (a founder
of the Round Table, the imperialist quarterly), John Buchan, and
others created the tidal wave of feeling on the crest of which he rode.

George Steevens of the Daily Mail, who was perhaps the leading
war correspondent of his time, told his readers in 1900 that
Kitchener's "precision is so unhumanly unerring he is more like a
machine than a man."® Steevens wrote a book about the Sudan
campaign, telling how Kitchener (then sirdar, or commander, of the
Egyptian army) led his armies south over nearly a thousand miles of
rock and sand, from the waters of the Nile Valley to lands where rain
never falls, to conquer a country of a million square miles. lgnoring
the episodes in which Kitchener's generalship was open to criticism,
the book dwelt at length on the characteristic organizational ability
that derived from the sirdar's background as an engineering officer.
According to Steevens, Kitchener prepared his movements with such
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care that "he has never given battle without making certain of an
annihilating victory ..." Steevens wrote that "the man has disap-
peared ... there is no man Herbert Kitchener, but only the Sirdar,
neither asking affection nor giving it. His officers and men are
wheels in the machine: he feeds them enough to make them efficient,
and works them as mercilessly as he works himself."*

When he joined the Cabinet, and indeed for many months after-
ward, its other members—to most of whom he was a stranger—were
in awe of him. Although they were jolted by his military pronounce-
ments, which ran counter to everything which they had been led to
believe, they accepted his judgments without demur. They had
believed the professional British army to be of adequate size, but
during his first day at the War Office, Kitchener remarked, "There
isno army."' The accepted view was that the war would be a short
one, but Kitchener with unerring foresight told an astonished (and,
according to Churchill, a skeptical) Cabinet that Britain would have
to maintain an army of millions of men in the field; that the war
would last at least three years; and that it would only be decided by
bloody battles on the continent of Europe and not at sea.'* Defying
the conventional view that a large army could be created only by
conscription, Kitchener instead raised his mass army by a volunteer
recruitment campaign, which surprised his contemporaries as much
as it has amazed posterity.

Kitchener proposed to win the war by organizing his forces as
thoroughly as he had done in advance of the Khartoum campaign.
He would spend the first years methodically creating, training, and
equipping an army of overwhelming strength, and would concentrate
his forces, not dissipate them in sideshows. The impending Ottoman
war, he felt, would be a sideshow; it would be a waste of resources to
send additional troops to fight the Turks. He feared a Turkish attack
on the Suez Canal—his only military concern in the Middle East—
but he believed that the British forces in Egypt could deal with it.
The Middle East played no role in his plans for winning the war.
But that did not mean that Kitchener had no Middle Eastern policy;
as will be seen presently, he held strong views about what role
Britain should play in the region once the European war was won.

It was pure accident that the military hero brought into the govern-
ment to preside over the war effort should have been one who
regarded himself, and was regarded by others, as having the East for
his special province. From that accident came the distinctive outlines
of the policy that emerged.
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Most recently, Kitchener had governed Egypt, a country officially
still part of the Ottoman Empire, but which had in effect been an
independent country until the British had occupied it in 1882, with
the stated aim of restoring order and then leaving. Instead of leaving,
the British stayed on. As of 1914, Egypt was a relatively recent
addition to the British sphere of influence, and British officers who
served there with Kitchener had begun to develop a distinctive
outlook on events. Stationed as they were in an Arabic-speaking
country, they had come to regard themselves, mistakenly, as experts
on Arab affairs, and were all the more frustrated to be excluded from
foreign policy making by the Foreign Office and by the Government
of India—the two bodies that traditionally dealt with the Arabic-
speaking portions of the Ottoman Empire. Neither Kitchener nor his
aides demonstrated any real awareness of the great differences be-
tween the many communities in the Middle East. Arabians and
Egyptians, for example, though both Arabic-speaking, were otherwise
different—in population mix, history, culture, outlook, and circum-
stances. Even had they been the experts on Egypt which they believed
themselves to be, that would not necessarily have made Kitchener's
aides the experts on Arabia they claimed to be.

In the Sudan campaign, undertaken in the face of misgivings within
both the Foreign Office and Lord Cromer's Egyptian administration,
Kitchener had greatly expanded the area of Britain's control of the
Arabic-speaking world. It may have been during the Sudan campaign
that Kitchener first began to dream of carving out a great new
imperial domain for Britain in the Middle East, in which he would
serve as her viceroy.

As early as the end of the nineteenth century, British officials were
aware that the Khedive—the native prince from behind whose throne
Britain ruled Egypt—was ambitious to expand his authority. Al-
though in theory he was the Ottoman Sultan's viceroy in Egypt,
there were persistent rumors that he considered the possibility of
taking the Sultan's place as temporal and spiritual lord—Sultan and
Caliph—of the Arabic-speaking provinces of the empire, thereby
splitting the empire in half. A variant was the rumor that he planned
to annex the Moslem Holy Places in Arabia and establish a caliph
there under his protection.”” The British and Egyptian officers
attached to him would understand that the achievement of any such
plan would bring greatly enlarged authority to themselves.

At the time—the end of the nineteenth century—the Great Power
principally opposed to the expansion of British Egypt was France,
which had aligned herself with Russia. As viewed from Britain's
outposts bordering the Mediterranean, the alliance seemed to be
directed against Britain. But Russia was far away; and in Egypt and
the Sudan, France was the enemy whose threatening presence was
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felt close at hand. Rivalry with France for position and influence in
the Arabic-speaking world: that was the policy in the service of
which Kitchener's officers had been reared.

Larger combinations and considerations in world politics were
beyond the range of the typical officer in British Cairo, an enclave
that possessed (wrote one of Kitchener's aides) "all the narrowness
and provincialism of an English garrison town . . ."* The local
community of British officials and their families was tight and homo-
geneous. Its life centered around the Sporting Club, the Turf Club,
and the balls given at a leading hotel six nights out of seven.

It was from this provincial garrison community—its views on Arab
policy hitherto ignored by the makers of British world policy—that
Lord Kitchener emerged.

The outbreak of the war against the Ottoman Empire made it neces-
sary to clarify the nature of Britain's presence in Egypt and Cyprus,
for both were nominally still part of the Sultan's empire. The Cabinet
was in favor of annexing both countries and, indeed, according to
what officials in Cairo were told, had already made the decision.
Ronald Storrs, the Oriental Secretary (which is to say, the staff
specialist in Eastern affairs) to Lord Kitchener in Cairo, protested
that, in the case of Egypt, such a decision violated forty years of
promises by British governments that the British occupation was
merely temporary. The Agency (that is, the office of the British
Agent in Egypt, Lord Kitchener) advocated a protectorate status for
Egypt, with at least token reference to, eventual independence—a
case argued effectively by Milne Cheetham (acting chief of the Agency
in Kitchener's absence). The Cabinet abandoned its own views in
deference to those of the Agency, and thus showed the direction of
things to come.

The Cabinet, in this instance, allowed Kitchener's Agency to
establish the prototype of the form of rule that the field marshal and
his staff eventually wanted Britain to exercise throughout the Arabic-
speaking world. It was not to be direct rule, such as was practiced in
parts of India. In Kitchener's Egypt a hereditary prince and native
Cabinet ministers and governors went through the motions of govern-
ing. They promulgated under their own name decisions rec-
ommended to them by the British advisers attached to their respective
offices; that was the form of protectorate government favored by the
Kitchener group. In the artful words of Ronald Storrs: "We dep-
recated the Imperative, preferring the Subjunctive, even the wistful,
Optative mood."**
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The Egyptian decision was the forerunner of others in which
Storrs and other members of Kitchener's entourage made policy
decisions for the Middle East under cover of the reclusive field
marshal's authority. When the views of the government about the
East came into conflict with those of Lord Kitchener, it was the
latter that were likely to prevail. Decisions that normally would have
been made by the Prime Minister, the Foreign Secretary, the Viceroy
of India, or the Cabinet were instead made by relatively junior
officials who represented Kitchener and purported to represent his
views. Only the field marshal's unique prestige made this possible.

On one telegram from Cairo, Sir Edward Grey, the Foreign
Secretary, minuted "Does Lord Kitchener agree? If so, | will ap-
prove."* He could have written the same inscription on them all.
Kitchener was scrupulous in clearing foreign-policy decisions with
Grey, but Grey deferred to him, and approved even those proposals
of the War Minister with which he disagreed.

One reason that Members of Parliament and the Cabinet left
eastern questions so much to Kitchener and his entourage was that
they themselves knew little about them. To a government official in
the 1980s, accustomed to bulging reference libraries, to worldwide
press coverage, and to the overwhelming supply of detailed infor-
mation about foreign countries gathered by the major governments,
British ignorance of the Middle East during the 1914 war would be
unimaginable. Shortly after Britain found herself at war with the
Porte, Sir Mark Sykes, one of the few M.P.s who had traveled in the
East, complained that in the English language there was not so much
as one authentic history of the Ottoman Empire.'” Of the histories
then current, none was based on original research, and all were based
on a German work that left off in the year 1744, and were therefore
long out of date.’* As late as 1917, when British armies were poised
to invade northward toward Syria, British Intelligence, asked by the
army to provide a guide to conditions there, reported that there was
no book in any European language that provided a survey of the
social and political conditions of the area. *

The British government lacked even the most elementary type of
information—including maps—of the empire with which it was at
war. In 1913 — 14, one of Kitchener's intelligence officers had secretly
surveyed and mapped a wilderness area close to British Egypt's
Sinai frontier; it was one of a mere handful of surveys gathered by
British Intelligence.” For the most part, British officers conducting
operations in Ottoman territory in the first years of the war were
operating in the dark. One of the many reasons for the failure of
Britain's invasion of Turkey in 1915 was that the British invasion
force was supplied with only one map of the peninsula it was to
attack—and that map, it turned out, was inaccurate. When it came to
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the Middle East, the politicians, like the soldiers, were aware that
they were moving in areas that were literally uncharted.

But the Cabinet ministers who deferred to Kitchener in Middle
Eastern matters were unaware of how little was really understood
about the Middle East either by the War Minister or by the aides in
Cairo and Khartoum on whom he relied for advice and information.
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KITCHENER'SLIEUTENANTS

Avoiding not merely women (as he had always done) but the outside
world as a whole, the War Minister lived in a masculine preserve
with his personal Military Secretary, Lieutenant-Colonel Oswald
FitzGerald, as his almost sole and constant companion. FitzGerald
corresponded and conversed on Kitchener's behalf; when people said
they had written to or heard from Kitchener, they meant that they
had written to or heard from FitzGerald.

Kitchener had always relied heavily on his staff. Now that he had
moved into the center of power in London, not only FitzGerald, but
also the staff remaining in Egypt and the Sudan moved toward the
center of power with him. Thus Lord Kitchener imposed his design
on policy not merely by shaping a new approach toward the Middle
East, but also by delegating power to chosen officers in the field who
would guide and execute that policy. Instead of being ignored or
neglected, as they felt they had been in the past, British officials in
Egypt and the Sudan were given a chance to make their weight felt.

Kitchener's old lieutenants in the Arabic-speaking world rose with
him to pre-eminence in Eastern policy-making. What was conspicuous
at the end of 1914 was that Kitchener had stamped his personal
brand on the government's policies, but what turned out to be of
more lasting importance was that he had chosen the people who were
to inform and to advise the British government about the Middle
East throughout the war—and afterward. By tranferring authority to
them, Kitchener moved much of the evaluation of information and
the making of policy from the capital city of a world empire, where
officials—even though not specifically knowledgeable about Middle
Eastern affairs—tended toward a broad and cosmopolitan view of
matters, to the colonial capitals of Egypt and the Sudan, where the
prejudices of old hands went unchallenged and unchecked. The
British enclaves in Cairo and Khartoum were the environment to

88



KITCHENER'S LIEUTENANTS 89

which the War Minister longed to return and from which spiritually
he had never departed.

The War Minister's weakness, according to one observer, was that
"He is more or less a foreigner" in England.* To him, London was
more alien than Cairo or Calcutta. The field marshal was profoundly
ill at ease with unfamiliar faces. Instead of relying on the War Office
and the Foreign Office in London for information and advice about
the Middle East, he continued to fall back on his staff in Egypt.
When he was appointed War Minister, he asked Ronald Storrs, his
Oriental Secretary, to stay on in London with him. Storrs pointed
out that governmental regulations would not allow it but, when
Storrs returned to Egypt, Kitchener continued to be inspired by his
suggestions. Storrs, the son of an Anglican clergyman, was an
intellectually elegant graduate of Pembroke College, Cambridge,
then in his mid-thirties. Although he had no more than an under-
graduate education in Eastern languages and literature, service as
Oriental Secretary of the Agency in Cairo for more than a decade
had established him as a specialist in Middle Eastern affairs. His
lowly rank—after the outbreak of war, he finally obtained diplomatic
standing, though only as a second secretary—gave no indication of
his high position in the field marshal's esteem.

By the end of 1914, it was clear that the war was not coming to a
quick conclusion, that the field marshal would not be able to return
to Cairo for some time, and that therefore a new British proconsul
had to be selected for Egypt. Kitchener, in order to keep the position
in Cairo vacant for his return, personally selected Sir Henry
McMahon to serve as his replacement (under the-new title of High
Commissioner, rather than Agent); McMahon was a colorless official
from India, on the verge of retirement.

Despite McMahon's appointment, Ronald Storrs and his colleagues
in Egypt and the Sudan continued to look upon the War Minister as
their real chief. Sir John Maxwell, commanding general of the British
forces in Egypt, reported directly to Kitchener at the War Office
rather than to, or through, the new High Commissioner.

The senior figure in the War Minister's following in the Middle
East was Lieutenant-General Sir Francis Reginald Wingate, who had
succeeded Kitchener as sirdar of the Egyptian army and Governor-
General of the Sudan. Wingate's entire career had been one of
military service in the East, principally in Military Intelligence. He
passed for a master of Arabic. Of his role in Kitchener's Khartoum
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campaign, the journalist George Steevens wrote that "Whatever there
was to know, Colonel Wingate surely knew it, for he makes it his
business to know everything ... As for that mysterious child of lies,
the Arab, Colonel Wingate can converse with him for hours, and at
the end know not only how much truth he has told, but exactly what
truth he has suppressed .. . Nothing is hid from Colonel Wingate."*

Wingate governed the Sudan from Khartoum, a sun-scorched
capital city of some 70,000 inhabitants that had been completely
rebuilt to the specifications of Lord Kitchener. By steamer and
railroad, it was 1,345 miles away from Cairo, and Wingate felt cut off
and neglected. On 18 February 1915, he sent a letter marked Very
Private to his Agent in the Egyptian capital that cried out with his
sense of hurt:

The more that | think over the Arabian Policy question &
the peculiar situation into which it has drifted owing to the
number of "cooks" concerned in its concoction—the less | con-
sider it desirable we should show our hands unless we are
officially called upon for a statement of our views.

Speaking for myself—you must remember that in spite of my
position in Egypt & the Sudan & the number of years | have
been in the country, little use has been made of my experience
in this, or in other matters connected with the situation.

As | have often said before, | think that our geopolitical
position & our connection with the Arabian Provinces nearest to
us, has given us opportunities for understanding the situation
there—and the views of the Moslems of the Holy Places—better
than many others; but clearly that view is not shared by either
the Home or Indian authorities & therefore, | prefer to keep
silent for the time being.®

In fact Wingate could not bear to keep silent, and only twelve days
later he wrote that he had changed his mind and had decided "that
we ought not to keep entirely to ourselves information & views which
may be helpful" to those responsible for making policy.’

Wingate's Agent in Cairo—the official representative in Egypt of
the Sudan government—was Gilbert Clayton, who had also served
under Lord Kitchener in the Sudan campaign. After receiving his
commission in the Royal Artillery in 1895, Clayton went out to
Egypt and had been stationed there or in the Sudan ever since.
From 1908 to 1913 he served as Private Secretary to Wingate. From
1913 onward he served as Sudan Agent in Cairo and, at the same
time, as Director of Intelligence of the Egyptian army. Clayton
moved into a central position in making Britain's Arab policy on 31
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October 1914, when, by decision of the Commanding General in
Egypt, Sir John Maxwell, who reported directly to Kitchener, he
became head of all intelligence services in Cairo—of the British
civil authority and the British army, as well as the Egyptian army.
Thus London heard only one version of intelligence data from
Egypt—Clayton's—instead of three. A former army captain, Clayton
rapidly moved up the ranks during'the war and by the end of it was a
general.

In this fatherly way, Clayton served as mentor to the adventurous
young archaeologists and orientalists who flocked to Cairo to serve in
the intelligence services during the war. He must have had outstand-
ing human qualities, for his young men, though diverse in other
regards, all liked and respected him. They saw him as shrewd, sober,
sensible, and steady. He was about ten years older than most of them
and, whether or not they took it, they listened to his advice. For
them he was the incarnation of the old hand.

Although the Foreign Office and the India Office often disputed the
views or proposals that Wingate and Clayton espoused, nobody during
the war questioned their professional ability or their expert knowl-
edge based on long experience in the Middle East. It was not until
years after the war had ended that David Lloyd George, using
information that became available from the German side, made a
case for the proposition that they were dangerously incompetent.

According to Lloyd George, the British authorities in Cairo were
blind to what was happening behind enemy lines. In particular, he
wrote, there was a point in 1916 when the Ottoman Empire was too
exhausted to continue fighting. If the British forces in Egypt had
launched an attack on Sinai and Palestine then—or even in 1915—
little effort would have been needed, according to Lloyd George, to
"have crumpled ... up" the Turks, which in turn would have
allowed Britain to move through the Balkans to defeat Germany.®
The opportunity was missed, according to him, because the intelli-
gence services either did not know, or failed to report, what was
going on inside the Ottoman Empire. As a result, he claimed, the
British government failed to win the war during the years when the
war still could have been won on British terms.

A more easily proved failing of Cairo Intelligence was that it was
unaware of the extent to which the Egyptian government had been
infiltrated by enemy agents. It was not until that expert on Ottoman
affairs, Wyndham Deedes, went to work in Cairo in 1916, and
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discovered that the Egyptian police forces were honeycombed with
spies, that the Turkish network was smashed.

An early sign of the inadequacy of Cairo's intelligence apparatus
that ought to have sent up a warning signal, but did not, appeared in
the autumn of 1914, about a month before the Ottoman war began,
when the local British army commander, General Maxwell, wrote
from Egypt to Lord Kitchener that "It is very difficult to put a
true value on all the reports from Constantinople, Asia Minor and
Syria ... | can get no information direct as the Turks guard the
frontier very closely—our agents cannot get through—those we had
on the other side have been bagged." He added a disquieting note
about the intelligence imbalance: " The East is full of German spies
and they get fairly good information."®

At least Maxwell was aware that he did not know what was going
on in Constantinople. Wingate and Clayton fell into the trap of
believing that they did. They accepted Gerald FitzMaurice's mistaken
theory that the Ottoman government was in the hands of a group of
pro-German Jews. At the end of 1914 General Wingate blamed the
war on "a syndicate of Jews, financiers, and low-born intriguers" in
Constantinople.’

He and his colleagues compounded the error by linking it to
misleading information about the state of Moslem opinion. Just after
the war began, Storrs sent Maxwell a report of remarks made by a
Syrian informant about public opinion behind enemy lines. According
to the informant, the inhabitants of Syria were filled with hatred of
the Ottoman government because they believed it would support
Zionism. "These Zionists are closely connected with Berlin and
Constantinople and are the most important factor in the policy of
Palestine," the informant stated.” The false rumor that Berlin and
Constantinople were about to back Zionism echoed back and forth
through the years, and later in the war misled the British Cabinet into
believing that it had to issue a pro-Zionist Declaration immediately.

Storrs wrote to Kitchener (which isto say, to his personal military
secretary, Lieutenant-Colonel Oswald FitzGerald) at the end of the
year. He commented on plans for the postwar Middle East, and
claimed that Moslems would oppose a Jewish Palestine because they
blamed Jews for the war. "Again would not Islam be extremely
indignant at the idea of handing over our conquests to a people
which has taken no part as a nation in the war, and a section of
which has undoubtedly helped to thrust the Turks over the preci-
pice."’ In fact, as Foreign Office and Arab Bureau reports later were
to show, Moslem opinion, even in non-Turkish areas, generally
supported the Ottoman Empire and its alliance with Germany. Storrs
was wrong, too, in supposing that Moslems were opposed to a Jewish
Palestine because of the war; Moslem opposition to a Jewish Palestine
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had arisen long before the war, in the wake of Zionist colonization at
the end of the nineteenth century.

A characteristic flaw in the information-gathering conducted by
Clayton and Storrs was that they frequently accepted information
supplied by a single informant without testing and checking it.
Instead they seemingly relied on the sort of intuitive ability that
Steevens had ascribed to Wingate: the gift of being able to divine the
extent to which any native is telling the truth. John Buchan, who
later became wartime Director of Information in London, wrote in
the second chapter of his adventure novel Greenmantle that "the
truth is that we are the only race on earth that can produce men
capable of getting inside the skin of remote peoples. Perhaps the
Scots are better than the English, but we're all a thousand percent
better than anybody else." Wingate, Clayton, and Storrs acted as
though they understood the natives of the Ottoman Empire as well as
did the Scots hero of Buchan's novel. As it transpired, their ability to
understand the natives was quite limited.

In evaluating reports that there was dissatisfaction with Ottoman
rule in some sections of the empire, British Cairo particularly mis-
understood one of the salient characteristics of the Moslem Middle
East: to the extent that it was politically conscious, it was not willing
to be ruled by non-Moslems. Behind enemy lines there were Moslems
who were dissatisfied with the Young Turk government, but they
proposed to replace it with a different Turkish government, or at any
rate a different Islamic government. They regarded rule by a Chris-
tian European power, such as Britain, as intolerable.

Storrs apparently believed that he could get around that by pre-
tending that it was Egyptian rule that would be substituted for
Turkish rule. He proposed to create what would appear to be a new
Egyptian empire to replace the Ottoman Empire in the Arabic-
speaking Middle East; it was behind that facade that Lord Kitchener
would rule as Britain's viceroy. Storrs derived particular satisfaction
from reports that Ottoman rule had become unpopular in Syria; he
believed thai he could offer the Syrians a popular alternative. Accu-
rate reports, received with some frequency, indicated that—other
than the Maronites, a Christian sect with ties to the French—most
Syrians who held political views objected to the prospect of being
ruled in the postwar world by France, and since Storrs and his
colleagues took it for granted that the Arabic-speaking peoples could
not govern themselves, the only possibility left was the one advocated
by Storrs: the incorporation of Syria into British Egypt.

Seen in that light, reports that Syrians considered the Germans
and Turks to be Zionists and the French to be detestable meant that
the Syrians must be pro-British. Summarizing a memorandum sub-
mitted by a Syrian leader who called for Arab independence, Clayton
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stated that "it is to England, and to England alone, that both Syrian
Christians and Pan-Arabsare turning."* On 2 February 1915, Storrs
wrote to FitzGerald/Kitchener that "There is no doubt that local
Syrian feeling, both Christian and Muslim, is strongly in favor of our
adding that country to the Egyptian Sultanate ..." * The question
was whether actively to promote that feeling. The newly arrived
High Commissioner in Cairo, McMahon, writing the same day to
FitzGerald/Kitchener to seek guidance, outlined the alternatives as
they had undoubtedly been described to him by Storrs and Clayton:
"The Syrians want our intervention and say that unless we can give
them some assurance of support they will have to turn to the French
altho they would prefer us to the French."*

Wrong-headed and professionally ambitious, Britain's men on the
spot supposed that Arabs wanted to be ruled by Europeans, and
buoyed by this mistaken belief, Kitchener's lieutenants aimed at
taking control of Syria. France's men on the spot were wrong-headed
and ambitious too; and they also aimed to take Syria.

v

During the Crusades, French knights won kingdoms and built castles
in Syria; and in 1914—a millennium later—there were still French-
men who regarded Syria as properly part of France. France main-
tained close ties with one of the Christian communities along the
Mount Lebanon coast of Syria, and French shipping, silk, and other
interests eyed commercial possibilities in the area. Thus for re-
ligious, economic, and historical reasons, France saw herself as
having a role to play in Syria's affairs.

The moment that the Ottoman Empire entered the war, French
officials in the Middle East (like their British counterparts, Wi